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P R O C E E D I N G S

(9:28 a.m.)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Good morning.  Today we begin hearing the direct case in support of the proposed negotiated service agreement between the Postal Service and Capital One Services, Incorporated.  This morning we will hear testimony from Capital One's witness, Donald Jean and Stuart Elliott.  We will also hear testimony from Postal Service witness Charles Crum.



I want to thank the Postal Service and Capital One for their efforts to meet the self-imposed 10-day limit for proposed findings of discovery.  Although a few responses have been a day or two late, in general, responses have been timely, and this has enabled parties to successful pose several rounds of questions.



The Commission will be maintaining up-to-date information on the status of the hearing; that is, which witnesses are scheduled and which witnesses have completed their appearance, with a scroll banner on our home page.  Please check the website instead of calling our dockets room to get accurate information on how the hearings are progressing.



The Commission now has the ability to accommodate counsel's use of laptop computers.  If you would like to use a computer during the hearing, please contact the Commission administrative office.  They will try to make arrangements to accommodate on a first-come, first-serve basis.



Does anyone have a procedural matter to discuss before we begin the hearing today?



(No response.)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Mr. May, would you please call your first witness?



MR. MAY:  Yes.  I call Donald Jean.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Mr. Jean, would you stand, please.



Whereupon,


DONALD JEAN



having been duly sworn, was called as a witness and was examined and testified as follows:


DIRECT EXAMINATION



BY MR. MAY:


Q
Mr. Jean, I am going to hand you two copies of document captioned "Direct Testimony of Donald Jean on Behalf of Capital One Services, Inc," COF-T-1.



You are the senior vice president of Capital One Services, Inc., are you not?


A
Right.


Q
I'm going to ask you to examine those two documents and ask if that's the testimony you prepared for this case?


A
Yes, it is.


Q
And if you were to testify at length today, would that be your testimony?


A
Yes, it is.



MR. MAY:  Mr. Chairman, I am going to hand these two copies to the reporter, ask that they be transcribed in the record and admitted into evidence.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Is there any objection?



(No response.)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Hearing none, I will direct counsel to provide the reporter with two copies of the corrected direct testimony of Donald Jean.  That testimony is received and will be transcribed into evidence.




(The document referred to was marked for identification as COF-T-1, and received in evidence.)

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Mr. Jean, have you had an opportunity to examine the packet of designated written cross-examination that was made available to you in the hearing room this morning?



THE WITNESS:  If questions contained in that packet were posed to you orally today, would your answer be the same as those provided in writing?



THE WITNESS:  Yes, I believe they would be.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Are there any corrections or additions that you would like to make to your answers at this point?



THE WITNESS:  No, not at this time.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Counsel, would you please provide copies of the corrected designated written cross-examination of Witness Jean to the reporter?  That material is received into evidence and it is to be transcribed into the record.




(The document referred to was marked for identification as COS-T-1, and was received in evidence.)

//

//

//

//

//



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Is there any additional written cross-examination for Witness Jean?



(No response.)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Mr. Costich?



MR. COSTICH:  ​Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


CROSS-EXAMINATION



BY MR. COSTICH:


Q
Mr. Jean, I am going to hand you two copies of your responses to Interrogatories OCA/COS-T1-30 and 32.


A
Thank you.


Q
If I were to ask you those questions orally today, would your answers be the same?


A
Yes, they would be.



MR. COSTICH:  ​Mr. Chairman, I would move the admission of those interrogatory responses.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  So ordered.




(The document referred to was marked for identification as OCA/COS-TA-30-32, and received in evidence.)



MR. COSTICH:  ​I will hand two copies to the reporter.

//

//

//



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Thank you.



This brings us to oral cross-examination.  Three parties have requested oral cross-examination:  The American Postal Workers Union, AFL-CIO, Ms. Catler; Newspaper Association of American, Mr. Baker; and the Office of Consumer Advocate, Mr. Costich.



Is there any other party that wants to cross-examination Witness Jean?



(No response.)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Ms. Catler?  It seems Ms. Catler is not with us today.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Mr. May?  I'm confused.



(Pause.)



MR. MAY:  I believe Mr. Baker is next.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Yes, Mr. Baker.



MR. BAKER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and good morning, Mr. Jean.



THE WITNESS:  Good morning.


CROSS-EXAMINATION



BY MR. BAKER:


Q
My name is Bill Baker and I will be asking you questions this morning on behalf of the Newspaper Association of America.  Just want to start with a couple of questions about your background.



Are you the person who is ultimately responsible for Capital One's mailing operation?


A
I play a role in it.  I wouldn't necessarily say I would necessarily be accountable for it.  I am responsible, for example, for the relationships that Capital One maintains with key mail service providers, including USPS, but also letter shops, data services, that type of thing.


Q
Okay.  Did you personally negotiate this NSA?


A
I did not.


Q
Okay.  Persons under your supervision or different?


A
Yes.


Q
And according to testimony in this proceeding that even without the NSA Capital One would mail about 1.4 billion pieces of First Class mail in the coming years; is that not right?


A
That's correct.  We don't ordinarily do projections, but for purposes of the NSA we projected about 1.4 billion pieces for First Class mail.


Q
Yes, that works out by my math about 44 pieces a second for every day of the year.  Does that sound right?


A
That may be correct.


Q
Okay.  Could you take a look at page 5 of your testimony at the bottom?  And in their is a passage where you are describing in some steps the detail that Capital One currently takes to maintain to address hygiene.


A
Yes, I see that.


Q
And you mention the Seattle, the Richmond plan, and I believe you are also seeking MPTQM certification of the Seattle plant?



We asked you in NEA-13, which you may turn to, or questioned about it, and I was a bit surprised by your response where you said, "Solicitation mail is not produced at Capital One sites."



Do you see that?


A
I don't actually -- I don't have another copy.  My copy was passed up front.



THE WITNESS:  Thank you, Tim.



BY MR. BAKER:


Q
Do it have it now?


A
I do, yes.


Q
Okay.  So the first sentence in that answer says, "Solicitation mail is not produced at Capital One sites."  And then you go on in the next sentence repeat that the Richmond site is MPTQM certified and expect Seattle sites to be soon or in a year.



Where is Capital One's solicitation mail produced?


A
Capital One utilized the services of a variety of large mail service providers throughout the United States.


Q
So there is a number of them around the country that you use?


A
Yes.


Q
Okay.  Roughly how many?


A
In terms of actual letter shops, if you are familiar with that term, we utilize three primary letter shops, I believe, with some other relationship at the secondary level.


Q
And how many other facilities would you use, mail service providers of some kind would you use to produce your solicitation mail?  Do you use anyone else beyond those three letter shops?


A
There are other aspects in terms of printing service providers, lithographers, there is a handful of other service providers in the mailing.  So I would tell you that we believe in forming very strong business relationships with our suppliers, so for the mail, roughly speaking, there may be 10 or more; roughly 10 business partners that we work with to produce our solicitation mail.


Q
Are those letter shops that produce the solicitation mail MPTQM certified?


A
I don't believe that they are.


Q
Do you know if they are in the process of becoming so?


A
I'm not currently aware whether they are.


Q
All right.  And the Richmond and Seattle sites that you refer to in your testimony and in your response to NAA-13 mail, your customer account mail; is that correct?


A
Customer mail is produced by our Capital One facilities, correct.


Q
Okay.  I want to talk a little bit about the returns process, the process for which you get returned mail now.


A
Okay.


Q
Postal Service Witness Plunkett has told us that physical returns are sent to post office box addresses in Richmond, Virginia.  Is that the procedure today?


A
That's my understanding, yes.


Q
And that would continue under the NSA?  Returns, to the extent you get returns, would that continue under the NSA?


A
To the extent we actually receive physical returns, they would be sent to the Richmond address; that's correct.


Q
I personally happen to recently receive a Capital One solicitation from Capital One Small Business Services.



That's one of yours?


A
I believe so, yes.


Q
And this one actually happens to be standard mail, but I notice that it has a return address of P.O. Box 85149, Richmond, Virginia, 23295-001.



And I wanted to ask you, do all Capital One solicitation pieces use the same return address?


A
Honestly, I don't know for sure.  I believe that we do have solicitation returns at Richmond.  I don't know for sure if it's all the exact same address.


Q
Do you know if they all use the same ZIP code for the returning address?


A
I don't know for sure.  I believe so, but I don't know for sure.


Q
Are you aware of any differences in the return addresses between First Class mail and Standard mail on those?


A
I'm not aware.


Q
I notice that this ZIP code ends in 0001, which is not the Post Office Box number that I observed on the piece, and that's suggest to me that this is a unique five-digit code specific to Capital One.



Do you know if that's true?


A
I don't know for sure.



I also wanted to just clarify that standard mail is not returned.


Q
I understand that.  This envelope happened to have the return address on it.


A
Sure.  Sure.


Q
Where is that post office box address physically located in Richmond?


A
I don't know for sure.  I believe it's in our production facility, but I don't know for sure.


Q
You believe it's in your production facility?


A
Yes.  I believe mail is returned to our production facility in Richmond, yes.


Q
Is that co-located at a postal facility?


A
Oh, I'm sorry.  



Is the mail returned to the Postal Service and then provided to us?


Q
Yes, I want to understand the process of how the returned pieces get to you, and I am starting with the post office box address itself, is that a Postal Service facility or is that yours?


A
I would assume that's actually a Postal Service facility.  I don't know for sure, but I would assume comes from the Postal Service directly, and they deliver it to our production facility.


Q
How is it delivered to your production facilities?


A
Specifically?


Q
Yes.


A
I'm not familiar with the specific operations of it, but it's delivered -- I'm sure, as you have indicated, we mail a lot of mail so we do receive large amounts of mail delivered in whatever way the post office deems most efficient for processing and handling.


Q
In a response the Postal Service provided last week, it stated that "Capital One's returned pieces are routed through the Richmond ADC."



Does that mean anything to you?  Do you have an understanding of what that phrase would mean?


A
I'm afraid it doesn't.


Q
Okay.  Now I want to ask about what happens to the mail that comes into the post office return address.



You just said you believe it gets somehow from the Postal Service facility to a Capital One production facility; is that correct?


A
I believe, yes.


Q
Do you know whether the Postal Service delivers that or do you have your third-party vendor pick it up and take it to you?


A
It's my believe that we actually deliver our mail to a third-party service provider for processing.


Q
So it goes from the Postal Service to Capital One and then Capital One gives it to the third-party vendor?


A
That's my belief, yes.


Q
Is your Richmond production facility co-located with the Postal Service's facility?  The same building?  Same location?  Do you know that?


A
No, I don't believe it is.


Q
It is a different place.  Okay.



How often do you get returned pieces?  Daily?


A
I believe we receive mail every business day, yes.


Q
Okay.  And in response, I believe it was to OCA question -- I believe it was No. 9 to you, you gave us -- provided the actual number of returns for calendar year 2001 and 2002 of 98 million and 78 million plus, respectively.


A
Yes.


Q
Is the returned mail picked up six days a week?  Seven?  Five?


A
I believe our returned mail is picked up -- I know it's picked up five days a week.  I'm not sure if it's picked up on Saturdays or not.


Q
Okay.  Well, let's assume that you pick it up six days a week.  Ninety-eight million plus pieces works out to approximately a quarter of a million, 268,000 or so pieces a day.



Does that sound about like the volume you are getting in returns?


A
I haven't worked out the math, but I am sure you have.  Your calculations sound reasonable.


Q
Does that sound unreasonable?


A
It doesn't sound unreasonable.


Q
Okay.  So that's a lot of mail you are getting every day.


A
It is.


Q
Okay.  And do you know the average weight of your pieces? Half-ounce?


A
We stay within standard -- I should say standard.  We stay within First Class guidelines, so less than a half-ounce, I would believe.


Q
Okay.  So it's several tons worth of mail you are getting daily?


A
It's lots of mail.  Certainly.


Q
Okay.  All right, now I want to move on to a slightly different subject.  Your testimony and in the interrogatories you refer to a third-party agent who basically process returned information for you, okay?



And in the answer that you filed yesterday to OCA question 32 to you, you stated that the third party, Capital One third-party vendor transmits data to the company each business day.  So that would be correct -- that would include corrected information that they glean from the returned pieces; is that correct?


A
We don't receive any corrected information.  The only information that third-party subscriber provide to us, they receive the physical mail, they key in the name and address and send us back a file informing us that the name and address --


Q
Was returned.


A
-- was returned and undeliverable.


Q
All right.  So you get the information that a piece with this name and address was returned; and that's it?


A
Yes.


Q
Okay.  So the mail comes in to your facility.  You take it -- or it gets picked up or you take it to the third-party vendor.  Are they in Richmond, too?


A
Yes, sir.


Q
And do they get it the same day you get it?


A
I'm not familiar with the actual mechanics.  I know that we certainly make efforts because we deliver on a daily basis.  I'm not sure if it's delivered the same day or next day.


Q
Okay.


A
I think its safe to say it's probably within one day turnaround.


Q
And in OCA-32, you state that typically two days elapse between the receipt of the third-party vendor transmission and the updating of your records; is that correct?


A
The receipt of the electronic file and the updating to our database, it's generally done within two days, correct.


Q
Okay.  And that possibly one more day between the -- well, how many days does it take the vendor to transmit the fact that there was a return for a name and address after it gets the piece from you?


A
The amount of time it takes between us delivering the mail to the third-party service provider and receiving the file can vary, but it can take up to several weeks.


Q
Okay.  So it can take about a day for you -- a day or less for you to get it to the vendor.  I can take several weeks for them to process the fact of the return and get that to you, and then you update it within two days?


A
Yes, sir.


Q
Okay.  Under the NSA you have agreed to update your databases with electronic address correction service notices within two business days and to use that information in all future marketing campaigns.



So one feature of the NSA for you is that you would receive these electronic address information instead of most of your physical returns; is that correct?


A
We would receive electronic information in lieu of physical returns for our solicitation mail, correct.


Q
Right.  Would the EECS information go through the third-party vendor or would it go straight to you?


A
Information would be sent straight to us.


Q
Okay.  Would that data end up in the same databases as the physical returned information you get from your third-party vendor?


A
Yes, sir.


Q
Okay.  And then one of our earlier questions to you, I think it was NAA-20, you stated that Capital One would use electronic ACS information to update its records.  This information is then used in conjunction with other information known about that address to make mailing decisions in future campaigns.



Is that the process we have just discussed?


A
Yes, I believe it is.


Q
Okay.  And do you have a name for these databases?  Are these return databases, or what do you call them internally?


A
There is a lot of different -- to me it's just better to refer to them as database, customer database, prospect database; the databases that this letter referred to.


Q
How many databases are there?


A
Difficult question to answer.  I don't know we necessarily think about our information at Capital One as one databases or many databases.  I would say that in the end information is knowledge, and we have linkages to all of our data, so we have one integrated set of information and data.  There are those who actually use different pieces of different information, but generally speaking, it's an integrated customer and prospect database.


Q
Have an vision of it being an enormous oracle database.  Is that what you're -- something like that?


A
Not actually oracle, but yes, it's actually not that far off.


Q
And by contrast, today when you have a solicitation that's forwarded, that simply happens and you don't know anything about it; is that right?


A
Under current process?


Q
Currently.


A
Yes, if a piece is forwarded, we do not know that it's forwarded.


Q
Okay.  I want to talk about -- now I'll change the subject and talk a little bit about your solicitations process.



At a projected volume of about 768 million First Class mail solicitations, that works out to more than two million pieces every day of the year, which is a lot of mail that's being sent out, solicitations.  And I want to ask a question first about jargon.



Does the term "campaign" mean something to you in this context?


A
Tell me more.


Q
Well, I was going to describe a marketing campaign as a particular marketing proposal sent to a particular mailing list.  Does that term --


A
I'm familiar with that, I'm familiar with that definition.


Q
In general terms, how does a marketing campaign originate within Capital One?



MR. MAY:  Mr. Chairman, I believe not only is this question irrelevant, but it also begins to invade what is proprietary information of the company.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Mr. Baker?



MR. BAKER:  Mr. Chairman, I don't believe I am getting anywhere close to proprietary information of the company because I intend to ask the question in general terms.  The point of the question is the foundation of one to get to how a mailing of a particular campaign and lists are created which goes to the accuracy of the lists.



MR. MAY:  But Mr. Chairman --



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Let the witness try to answer to the best of his ability.



THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.  Could you repeat the question?



BY MR. BAKER:


Q
Well, let me ask you this.  Capital One is engaged in many, many different marketing campaigns as I understand it; is that correct?


A
As you defined a campaign, yes, that's correct.


Q
And my impression is, and I've heard public presentations by Capital One people that there are very talented people within Capital One who are constantly devising new approaches or new marketing pitches, if you will.  And when they are devising these pitches, they are also envisioning marketing that particular approach or that campaign to a particular mailing list that they obtain from a variety of sources.


A
Yes, as I said in my testimony, the term we use is to try to develop the right product for the right customers at the right time at the right price.  We do believe that's one of the things we are reasonably good at.


Q
Okay.  And you know, you generate your lists to the recipients of the campaign either internally or from renting them from outside, list vendors; is that correct?


A
A variety of ways.  Those are -- correct.  Those are way we generate --


Q
Are there other ways?


A
Credit bureau information is another way to do that.


Q
And can you give me an approximate figure for the number of mailing lists that Capital One rents each year?



MR. MAY:  Again, I don't understand the relevance of the question, and that could be a commercial sensitive subject.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Let's try to go forward.  I don't see where that -- how many mailing lists they rent or whatever could be proprietary information.



MR. MAY:  Well, but also, Mr. Chairman, I don't understand what it has to do with any of the issues in this case.



MR. BAKER:  Mr. Chairman, I am trying to find out from the witness the mailing solicitations that his company does.  I understand that he has testified that he uses NCOA information and has some information for the internal lists, but apparently does not for the external list.  I am trying to at least get a handle on the proportions of the solicitations mailed that are based on external lists.



BY MR. BAKER:


Q
Can you give me a proportional answer?


A
I'm afraid I don't think about it in those terms so I actually don't know how many quantitative lists we use, and I don't have a sense of proportions either.



Again, we actually used information in an integrated evaluative process and source of listing is a variable, but there are many variable that we think about in terms of identify which prospects to try to target for future mail campaigns.


Q
In your testimony at page 3, line 18 I believe it is, if you could refer to that.  No, that's not the place.  Actually line 18.  You used the term "mail channel decisions."  What is that?


A
That makes reference to the fact that there are multiple channels that we make use of to try to solicit a prospect to become a Capital One customer.  Other channels include telemarketing, and as I indicated here in the testimony.


Q
Is this the point in the process where Capital One decides to proceed with a particular marketing campaign or is this a different stage of the process?


A
I'm sorry.  Help me understand.


Q
Well, I understand that Capital One, as I understand it, has a proprietary system of, I assume, consumer computer analysis and different human judgments that decides whether a particular marketing campaign is worth doing; is that fair?


A
We use a variety of information to determine future mail strategy, different campaign strategies, correct.


Q
That's your secret sauce?


A
I believe it's one of our core competencies, yes.


Q
Okay, and I believe that's -- and what is the ingredients of that, the factors that guide that decision are proprietary to the company?


A
I believe so.


Q
Okay.  So when you are at the mail channel decision that you refer to in your testimony, has there been a decision made to proceed or is the mail channel, that is, First Class and/or telemarketing perhaps, part of that decision-making process?


A
I could speak to that in general terms and say that it is our secret sauce.  It is a pretty complicated process, and we evaluate to solicit or not to solicit on several occasions in our process.  We evaluate which channel at multiple different stages.  So it's -- I'm not trying to be evasive.  Evaluation takes place at several different times during a several week process.


Q
In your response to NAA-18 to you, and I will just read the question.  You say that, "The Capital One lists, whether acquired from external sources or produced internally are cleansed via established hygiene processes, (EGNCOA), and compared to internal returned mail databases prior to mailing."



When does that cleansing or comparison occur in the process?  Is that the last thing before the mailing is done. 


A
I can't speak to the exact specifics, but I can tell you generally we actually do address hygiene at several stages, which is why we believe we are likely to be one of the -- have some of the high standards in terms of address hygiene of any direct mailer in the country, but we do internal address hygiene, and address hygiene also takes place at our letter shops.


Q
Is address hygiene part of the mail channel decision?


A
I don't believe so.  Those two don't -- I don't think about those two things together.


Q
Okay.  So back to the mail channel decision for a second.  I am assuming, and I am hoping you can answer this, that there is a range of possible outcomes of the mail channel decision, and that would include to do the campaign as some devised or to not do it, or to do part of it, or to do it in one way or another.



Are those the range of possible -- is that the kind of decisions that's made in the mail channel decision?


A
Those are elements that we consider in a campaign, yes.


Q
And the verdict that comes out of the decision is either to do some mail or not mail or something in a campaign; is that -- to proceed or not?


A
Those are two possibilities.


Q
Are there other possibilities?


A
Well, again, you are making an assumption that we have decided to mail.  We may choose to leverage the internet.  We may choose to do telemarketing; may choose to not do the prospect at all.  It's an integrated marketing decision as opposed to thinking about it as we're going to mail or not.


Q
So you are deciding whether to proceed and what means?


A
And how.


Q
Okay.  Now, once you decided you're going to mail, back in Interrogatory 18 we ask about, and you compare the proposed mailing lists to the internal returned mail databases, and those are the databases that we talked about earlier that came from third-party vendors.


A
Yes.


Q
And you used a formulation -- one question here.   And under the NSA mail is -- is there any difference in the mail channel decision?  Only what NSA will do differently for you is give you different information at the mailing end; is that correct?  Or how will NSA affect your mail channel decision?


A
I believe the mail -- it will affect it broadly speaking.  However, the NSA would give us information sooner and richer data in terms of internal information, so that will potentially have some influence.


Q
In a number of your interrogatory answers, NAA-15 was one and there was some others, you used -- you were asked how Capital One uses the information as a factor for return of First Class mail pieces from a solicitation, and you used the following language:



"Information that a mail piece has been returned for a particular address is added to the company's records.  This information is then used in conjunction with other information know about that address to make mailing decisions in future campaigns."  And you used that language a number of times that that's the case.


A
Yes.


Q
Now, the OCA and we both asked a number of questions about that, but let's just turn to No. 30 which you answered yesterday.  Do you have that, OCA-30 to you?


A
No, I don't.



Thank you.


Q
Take a moment to review your answer there.



(Pause.)



THE WITNESS:  You referred me to question 30?



MR. BAKER:  Thirty, yes.



THE WITNESS:  Yes.  Okay, I have read through it.



BY MR. BAKER:


Q
In subpart A of that you state that "Under the current practices the mailing decision process could result in a subsequent mail piece being sent to an address that has had a prior return."



That's correct, right?


A
We're talking about the current process.


Q
Yes.  And that would -- the decision to proceed with that mailing to a dress that had a prior return, is that part of the mailing decision process or is that part of the that would occur when you cleanse the list?


A
I'm sorry.  Say the question again?


Q
All right.  For that to happen, Capital One must by computer or otherwise look at an address, see on its internal returns with that prior mailing address to that was returned, and still decide to mail a piece to that address, correct?


A
Yes.  May I see if I can help you out here?


Q
Yes.


A
Today, if we receive that information from our third-party service provider which indicates that for a name and address the mail was returned.  Now, we don't know why it was returned.  We don't know if it was an address problem.  Maybe the address was fine and the name was the problem.  Maybe it was the timing, maybe it was a college student, for example, there may have been a lot of different reasons why it might have been returned.



We do use the fact that it was returned as a piece of very important information in evaluating future mail campaigns and future prospect lists.



The point I want to share with you and we shared with USPS is that Capital One has absolutely no interest whatsoever in sending out mail that we don't think has -- that doesn't make good business sense.  We only want to mail mail that we think makes good business sense for us.


Q
Okay.  So your testimony is, at least today, it may be Capital One's business judgment to make a piece to an address that it knows it has had a prior return from because it has reason to think the second piece might be more successful?


A
It is possible.   Not likely, but there are occasions where it is possible, and it has happened.


Q
And under the NSA, will it still be possible for that to happen?


A
Yes.  Can't speak to what will happen because we don't have the agreement yet, but I believe it will still be possible.  Factors to consider, however, are that with the NSA we will receive information faster.  We will also receive reasons for the return, which we don't receive today, and most importantly we will receive in cases where forwarding takes place we will see the forwarding address.



And I will tell you that if we receive a forwarding address, we will suppress the previous address when we receiving forwarding address information.


Q
And right now you don't know how many addresses that will be for forwarding?


A
Correct.


Q
Do you think it's a big number or small number?


A
I honestly haven't put a lot of time into evaluate whether it's big or small.


Q
You don't know if it's as many as your physical returns?


A
I honestly don't.


Q
You don't know.  Okay.



When Capital One compares the prospective mailing lists to your internal returned mail databases, is that done electronically by computer?


A
I'm sorry?


Q
Is the process of comparing the mailing lists to the internal returns done by a computer process?


A
Yes, it's not done manually.  It's done by a merging technology yes.


Q
And does that comparison allow Capital One to delete some but not all addressees from the list?


A
Just to clarify language.  We receive the information and we intend for our database to indicate for that name and address there was a return.


Q
Right.


A
Then we make future decisions about what to do.  That may lead to a suppression, it may not.


Q
Okay.  Is it possible for a particular single mailing campaign that some addresses will be suppressed and other that had returns won't be because of your judgment?


A
That was -- yes, that's the point.  It is possible.


Q
Okay.  All right, could you turn to page 6 of your testimony?  I want to change to a different subject at this point.  And just focus your attention at the bottom lines, 20 and 21 in particular.



And in there you state that, "Capital One's obligations under the agreement includes several address quality requirements that are greater than what is required of similarly situated mailers."



Did you have any particular mailers in mind when you said that?


A
I can't say that I did, no.


Q
Can you think of any similarly situated mailers to Capital One?


A
The point here was that -- what we were trying to speak to in the testimony was that we are committing to NCOA processing staying within 30 days for customer mail, and within 60 days for prospect solicited mail that is greater than the requirements for the Postal Service, what the Postal Service requires of mailers today.  That was the intent of the testimony.


Q
How often do you currently -- you referred to the NCOA within 60 days for solicitation mail.  What is your current practice for that?


A
I mentioned that previously that actually there are several times we do it internally.  We also run it at our letter shops, so it takes place on several -- at several different stages.


Q
Today, pre-NSA, are your mailing lists probably using NCOA files within 60 days of the mailing?


A
Our mailing lists?


Q
Yes.


A
Today?


Q
Yes.


A
We already today do the processing of customer mail within 30 days and solicitations within 60 days, so while we are committing to this as part of the NSA, we are generally doing it today already.


Q
All right, thank you.  That was the point.  And one last line of questions for you.



Your question has to do with whether or how much, if any, of your solicitation volume might shift from standard to First Class mail, and there were some interrogatories on the subject.



And I believe you stated that you do not expect "a significant amount to shift, although it's possible that some may."  Is that correct?


A
That's correct.


Q
Okay.  Can you give us a definition of "significant"?


A
Mr. May was kind enough to have me refer to a dictionary last night so I did do that, and meaningful and important were two synonyms I cam up with, so I hope that will suffice for you.  He really did.


Q
The phrase "important" was the word?


A
Meaningful, important, yes.


Q
Would one percent of your mail be a significant amount of mail?


A
I would prefer not to make -- that would be a judgment on my part.  I think it's fair to say that folks could determine different levels to be significant.


Q
Yes, one percent of 768 million pieces of solicitation of more than 7 million pieces of mail.


A
Yes.  My point is that others might find that to be significant.


Q
Do you?


A
Depends in what context.  On an absolute basis, you might find that significant.  On a relative basis, it is one percent.



MR. BAKER:  Mr. Chairman, I have no more questions.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Thank you, Mr. Baker.



Mr. Costich.



MR. COSTICH:  ​Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


CROSS EXAMINATION



BY MR. COSTICH:


Q
Good morning, Mr. Jean.


A
Good morning.


Q
I would first like to follow up on a few of Mr. Baker's questions.



You spoke of using letter shops that are located in various parts of the country; is that correct?


A
Yes.


Q
Do you those letter shops mail to separate parts of the country or do they mail nationwide?


A
Clarify the question.  Are you asking me if we have a specific letter shop strategy to use certain letter shops for certain part of the country?


Q
Yes.


A
The answer is no, we don't have a letter shop strategy to segment the country for certain letter shops.


Q
So any --


A
They do mail nationwide.


Q
You said you had a contractor or a vendor who currently processes your returns; is that correct?


A
Yes, we did discuss that.


Q
Will you continue to use that vendor or contractor during the period of the NSA?


A
We will because we still plan of receiving some physical returns, physical returns of customer mail, and if there is any slippage that comes through, we would use the third-party service provider for the slippage as well.


Q
And the third-party vendor will continue to supply the same kind of information that it supplies now?


A
Yes.


Q
Same electronic format?


A
Yes.


Q
Will that electronic format be similar to what the Postal Service will provide you under the NSA?


A
I'm not familiar with the specifics of the file configurations.  I do know that we do not plan to have a separate process for the NSA information versus the information from third-party service providers.  So there is probably some consistency there.  But again the Postal Service will provide us with additional information that this third-party service provider does not provide.


Q
Currently you use the return information as part of the decision process as to whether to mail to a particular address; is that correct?


A
We use the return mail information to evaluate whether to mail to future prospects at addresses.  We don't mail to -- we mail to people, not addresses, but address is an important component of that.


Q
I believe you said in response to an OCA interrogatory that you have already purchased the software that will be used to update your address files?


A
To the best of my recollection, we did not purchase because we are leveraging in-house software, but we are prepared to process information.


Q
I'm sorry for the use of the word "purchase."



Acquired one way or another; is that correct?


A
I think so, yes.


Q
I guess I am trying to get at how you will use the additional information that the Postal Service provides about returns during the pendency of the NSA.


A
It's difficult for me to give you a lot of details because we obviously don't have it.  We don't have the information that NSA provides today, so I'm not able to tell you intimately, you know, how we will use that additional data.



Also, as I stated earlier, that the process we use to do targeting is one of our core competencies, or secret sauces as referred to.



I can say, however, that while we don't forecast return mail in the future and we don't forecast in the example of reductions, we certainly are hopeful -- optimistic that the information provided through the NSA will lead to better, cleaner targeted -- you know, better hygiene for our lists.  We certainly hope for a lower return of mail by having this information.


Q
To use that information, will you have to modify the software that you currently use for updating your address files?


A
No.  I discussed this with my folks extensively, and we do not believe that we will have to do any modification in our evaluation process.


Q
Okay, let's try to distinguish between the decision-making model and the process of updating address files.



Will you have to modify the software that performs that updating function in order to make use of the new information that the Postal Service is providing you?


A
Again, it's my understanding that we do not need to make any modifications.  And we will receive additional information, so that in itself is a modification.  But in terms of the process itself we will not need to make any modifications in our processing to accommodate the additional data received from the Postal Service.


Q
Perhaps I'm not quite using the exact word.  The Postal Service presumably will be providing you with more fields of data --


A
Right.


Q
-- than you get from your contractor?


A
That's correct.


Q
And those extra fields can be accommodated with the software that you have now for address updates?


A
It's my understanding that is the case, yes.


Q
And your decision-making software will not have to be modified to look at those new fields?


A
Yes, that's the clarification.  We will have additional information to evaluate.  So in terms of developing or algorithms, will that potentially influence our algorithms?  Yes, I think that's a fair statement to make.



Again, I can't speak to -- by not having that information, I can't speak to you how the algorithms will be adjusted.  But is it possible that the algorithm itself can be modified?  Yes, it's possible.


Q
Well, would it be necessary to modify the algorithm in order to make use of any new information that you might want to make use of?


A
Yes, we will make modifications.  I don't believe there -- let's be clear though, I don't believe there is technical modification as much as evaluative modifications in how we make decisions.  But the technology changes are modest, if any.


Q
But until you actually gets your hands on the information from the Postal Service you won't know whether you will be modifying your decision-making program?


A
That's correct.


Q
I believe you said when you get information about returns from your vendors, you use that in the decision-making process as to whether to remail?


A
Yes.


Q
And that will continue under the NSA, correct?


A
The information received from the Postal Service will be used in the decision-making process, yes.


Q
Well, again, the information as to the fact of a return will continue to be used; is that correct?


A
Yes.


Q
Now the other information that the Postal Service will be supplying you can only be used if in some way you modify the evaluation program; is that correct?


A
As an example, under the NSA we will receive a forwarding address, so we will use that new address as part of our evaluation to do a future mail to that prospect or not, so that information would be used.


Q
Now we're talking about returns here.  You will only get returns if they can't be forwarded; is that correct?


A
Well, once we get information from the Postal Service under the NSA we will also get information if it is forwarded, so we can use that.  As an example I was saying we get the forwarding information, we would use that as well.  But we will use information that the mail piece was "returned" and is a factor in future mail decisions, yes, under the NSA.


Q
Okay.  My question went only to the returns.


A
Okay.


Q
And it relates to the additional information that the Postal Service will provide you under the NSA, and my question is won't you have to make some sort of change?


A
Well, if we have to make a change we will have to -- if you define a change as have additional inputs that change the algorithm, I guess I am saying, yes, that would be a change.  If you define it as making use of additional data and weighting, as an example, that would be a change.


Q
And that's the changes that are not sure yet whether you will have to make or want to make; is that correct?


A
Correct.  It's the latter part there in terms of what information you have and how do you evaluate.  We're not sure how to evaluate it yet, that's correct.


Q
Okay, let's switch to fowards.  Currently you receive no information about forwards; is that correct?


A
Yes.


Q
And under the NSA you will receive notification that a piece has been forwarded, and you will receive the new address; is that correct?


A
That's my understanding, yes.


Q
Will that information be essentially consistent with the return information that you are currently using that you get from your vendor?


A
Tell me more about your question.


Q
Currently you get an electronic file from your vendor concerning returns.  Are you going to get essentially the same kind of electronic file from the Postal Service with respect to forwards?


A
It's my understanding from a technology standpoint that the format is consistent, generally consistent.  The difference here is that you get additional information.



So under the pre-NSA situation we get nothing, so with the NSA we will get information about, hey, this piece was forwarded and here is the new address.  But keep in mind that under the pre-NSA therefore the piece wasn't returned.  So under today's situation, that would be a good address, a good prospect address, and what's different is that we actually have a good prospect's address, but now it's different.  That's the difference.


Q
When you currently use the electronic file from the vendor concerning returns, all that you do is note the fact of a return with respect to a specific prospect; is that the way it works?


A
We notate it on our database that -- that that prospect at that address, the mail piece was return, that's notated.


Q
Now with respect to forwarding under the NSA, you will be able to make an analogous notation in the data base, namely, that the piece instead of being returned was forwarded?


A
What we actually plan to do is to use the new information and suppress the previous address, which is what we do today when you use NCOA information as an example.  You get new information from NCOA, you will suppress the previous address, and now you use the new information as the current address.


Q
So when you use the information about forwarding under the NSA, that will be similar to NCOA corrections?


A
That's my understanding, that's how my folks explained it to me.


Q
Can you tell me in more detail what happens to a record in your database when it runs against the NCOA information currently?


A
My guess is that I probably can't.  But what do you mean by more detail?


Q
You speak of address suppression.  Does that mean that in your database that address is removed from the database?


A
Yes, okay, I can speak to that.



No.  At Capital One information is acknowledged as power.  We don't throw away knowledge.  So you retain the information, but it becomes "previous" address, so you actually have the new information which becomes the current address.  So similar to NCOA with the forwarding information, the new address becomes the current address and the previous address becomes the previous address in our files.


Q
So both the old and the new address remain in your files?


A
We retain the information, that's correct.


Q
I would like to turn to a different subject.  You are currently updating your solicitation lists against the NCOA every 60 days?


A
That is correct.


Q
Can you tell me how many campaigns might occur in a 60-day period?


A
I can't.  I don't know.  I don't have any specifics in terms of how many campaigns.


Q
Do you know how many times you might send a solicitation to the same prospect during a 60-day period?


A
I don't know.  I would be speculating.  I don't know.


Q
Can you tell us the total number of campaigns that Capital One used in the last calendar year?


A
I honestly don't know how many campaigns.  I don't think about it in those terms.



MR. COSTICH:  ​Mr. Chairman, the OCA has filed some interrogatories to this witness.  I've attempted to cover the same information orally, but I think I would like to see written responses to the interrogatories that were filed and haven't been answered yet.  I just want to make sure that will happen.



MR. MAY:  Mr. Chairman, those interrogatories were not seen by the witness until yesterday because they were filed at the close of business on Thanksgiving eve.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  When do you think you can get responses back?



MR. MAY:  I expect that -- you know, the questions are difficult.  They are not easily understood, so I don't know.  I don't know that we can answer some of the questions.  But there are people who work for Mr. Jean who are working on those questions.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Well, can you give us a time table of what -- by the end of the week?



MR. MAY:  We will certainly endeavor to do that.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  I would appreciate it very much if you could get them back to us by the end of the week.



THE WITNESS:  We'll make or best efforts to do that.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Mr. Costich.



MR. COSTICH:  ​I have no further questions, Mr. Chairman.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Thank you.



Ms. Catler?



MS. CATLER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I do have a few questions.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Fine.


CROSS-EXAMINATION



BY MS. CATLER:


Q
Mr. Jean, in your response to APW-CLS-T1-2, you list the affiliates of Capital One Services, Inc. and state that they could change over time.  You also state the company's understanding is that the proposed negotiated services agreement is limited to mailings by company affiliates.



First, you list five affiliates, and I would like to know just generally what these companies do.  What is Capital One Bank?


A
I'll try to answer your question from probably a general business standpoint as opposed to a legal entity perspective, which I'm not the best person to do.  I hope this will meet your needs here.



Capital One Bank and the savings bank are entitles that allow us to primarily be in the U.S. consumer lending business of which the credit card business is the vast majority of activities that we do.  We also issue certificates of deposit, so we do have a deposit business.  We also do installment loans, but the vast majority of our business in credit cards.


Q
Are the credit cards from Capital One Bank or Capital One F.S.B.?


A
I believe the bank is where the credit card loans assets are housed.


Q
Okay. And Capital One F.S.B. does those other banking --


A
That's the deposit business.


Q
I'm sorry?


A
I think that's where we have the deposit business.


Q
Okay.  Capital One Auto Finance, what is that?


A
Auto lending, auto loans, and People First as well is a company we acquired which was actually being integrated with Capital Auto Finance, but both of those entities are auto lending businesses.


Q
And the fifth one is Amerifee LLC?


A
Yes.


Q
What is that?


A
That is a small company acquired up in Massachusetts.  That is medical/dental lending.  If you go get a procedure in the United States, there are new ways to borrow money and now you can actually put your dental work on loan, and it's that business.


Q
Okay.  Could you please provide a definition of affiliate of Capital One Services, Inc. as you understand that term to be used in your testimony and in the proposed negotiated service agreements?


A
Again, I'm not the best person to provide legal entity definitions.  From a general business perspective, it is affiliated -- a line of business that we have within our general corporate structure.


Q
Could you please identify and quantify the ownership arrangement that identifies an affiliate of Capital One Services, Inc.?


A
Could you tell me more?


Q
Are affiliates owned by Capital One Services, Inc. or are they wholly owned subsidiaries of Capital One Financial or are they partially owned by Capital One Financial?  What is the ownership arrangements that identify, or is there an ownership arrangement that identify an affiliate of Capital One Services, Inc.?


A
There most certainly is, and I am not intimately familiar with the legal structurings of Capital One Services.  It is an organization.  It is a wholly owned subsidiary of Capital One Financial.  But how they all intertwine together is not my field of expertise.


Q
Are all the affiliates wholly owned subsidiaries of Capital One Financial?


A
It is my belief that all of these listed here are wholly owned subsidiaries, yes.


Q
Okay.  For an entity to be an affiliate of Capital One Services, Inc., must it be 100 percent owned by Capital One Financial Corporation?


A
I would be speculating.  I don't know for sure if that's the case.


Q
Are there any affiliates that you know of that are not 100 percent owned by Capital One Financial Corporation?


A
These are the facilities that I know of, and they are owned by Capital One, so my answer would be they are not that I know of.


Q
Are there any other identifying characteristics of an affiliate of Capital One Services, Inc.?  And if so, what are they?


A
I don't know of other characteristics.


Q
Okay.  Does Capital One Services, Inc. have any subsidiary?


A
Again, I'm not intimately familiar with the structure.  But to my knowledge, we don't have subsidiaries.


Q
Okay.  The reason I am asking is that the negotiated services agreement is between Capital One Services, Inc. and its subsidiaries and affiliates.  And so what you are telling me is you don't believe that there are any subsidiaries; is that correct?


A
Yes.


Q
And that you are also telling me that other than the five affiliates that you have identified in your response to APW/COS-T1-2, you don't believe there are any other affiliates?


A
That's correct.


Q
You did say in that response that the affiliates could change over time.  How could they change over time?


A
As an example, Capital One Auto Finance and People First were companies, and Amerifee were companies that were acquired in an acquisition.  So we could add affiliates by buying a company.


Q
You also referred to them as relevant affiliates.  Are there affiliates that are not relevant?


A
I don't have any awareness of a non-relevant affiliates.


Q
Okay.  In your response to APW/COS-T1-3, you identify mail relating to accounts serviced by Capital One Services, Inc. as being covered under the proposed service agreement.


Q
What does Capital One Services, Inc. do for accounts its services?


A
In general, this is -- the primary mailing is -- could you repeat the question again?


Q
What does Capital One Services, Inc. do for accounts it services?


A
How do we service accounts.



This is generally customer relationship.  This is customer inquiries.  This could be management of delinquent debt.  Just making sure that their product and their services work; the ongoing maintenance and servicing of that relationship.



Certainly an example of a credit card, making sure that your credit card product works.  If you have any problems, let us know, and I'm sure that you receive statements, any customer correspondence that's appropriate; just making sure that your products are working appropriately.


Q
And Capital One Services, Inc., that piece of Capital One Financial, does that for all five affiliates?


A
That is my belief, yes.


Q
Because at the outset of your testimony you indicate that your team is responsible for the procurement of goods and services, including mailing services that support Capital One, and I presume there you mean Capital One Financial's businesses.



So that in addition to purchasing -- arranging for the mailings, you are also arranging all the printing of the statements, and what other things do you do for these accounts?


A
You want to know what I -- my team does for specifically or Capital One?


Q
No, Capital One Services.


A
Generally speaking, it is the providing of relevant information.  Again, I'll go back to the example of the credit card.  So we provide you with customer statements, information, new plastics when your plastic expires, we answer your inquiries whether they are on the phone or written.  If you are interested in a credit line increase, for example, we will handle an inquiry and process that.



But again, these are things that you are familiar with in terms of our products, credit cards and the loans, the general maintenancing and servicing of those products.


Q
Does Capital One Services, Inc. service accounts for entitles other than affiliates of Capital One Financial?


A
A clarifying question.  So if an account is not -- if a customer relationship is not owned by Capital One affiliates, is that your question?


Q
Yes.


A
It is my understanding today that Capital One has no significant -- going back to that word significant -- relationship that I am aware of that do servicing for organizations that are not part of Capital One.


Q
Do you have some insignificant relationships?


A
Not that I know of.  My point is if there are some, I'm not aware of them, and I think I would be aware of those that are quote/unquote significant.


Q
Okay.  So you're --


A
I'm not aware of any is the point.


Q
So that in other words you're not -- you don't provide any mailing services to any entities other than the five affiliates that you have previous identified?


A
I think the best way to describe this.  Capital One Services is not in the business as a P&L on its own.  It provides services to these affiliates that is stated here.


Q
Section 1(f) of the proposed agreement states that, "Capital One's mail relates to its products and services, including but not limited to sales and other promotions run in conjunction with Capital One's strategic partners or as part of strategic alliances with other entities."



Could you please provide a definition of strategic partner has you understand that term to be used in your testimony and the proposed services agreement?


A
These would be organizations that we would work with to enhance the product and service offerings to either our existing customers or prospect customers.



The point I want to emphasize here is that the NSA is about First Class mail for Capital One customers or Capital One potential customers.  And so mail under those circumstances are covered, and that's the scope of the NSA.


Q
I appreciate that that's the scope of the NSA.  What I am trying to figure out is what is a strategic partner as you understand that terms to be used in your testimony and the proposed negotiated service agreement?


A
Again, my answer is an organization that can help enhance Capital One products and service offerings to its customers or prospects.


Q
Could you give me an example of a type of company?


A
Sure.


Q
I'm not asking for a specific company.


A
No, that's okay.



We have recently formed an agreement with Lowe's Hardware Stores to offer Capital One credit cards to Lowe's customers and potential offers from customer benefits through Lowe's.


Q
Would this offer include, oh, I don't know, some credit cards will go and try and offer people travel insurance, or telephone services?  Would those be strategic partners?


A
Do we cross products and services to our customer base?  Yes.  And so that is a possibility.


Q
Is that what you would consider a strategic partner or as part of a strategic alliance with other entities?


A
Would I consider strategic partners from Lowe's to sell products to Capital One Customers, yes.


Q
Is there an ownership arrangement that identifies a strategic partner of Capital One Services, Inc.?


A
That I am aware of, no.


Q
Are there identifying characteristics of a strategic partner?  And if so, what are they?


A
Repeat your question, please?


Q
Are there identifying characteristics of a strategic partner?  And if so, what are they?


A
I'm afraid I don't have a specific definition that is agreed upon within my organization of what a strategic partner is.  It's more in the qualitative sense of someone you believe that you want to have an integrated business relationship with in a qualitative sense, but we haven't actually quantified that in specific terms.


Q
In what ways does a strategic partner differ from an affiliate?


A
In this case, we're referring to strategic partners as organizations that are not part of Capital One.  So an affiliate is someone that is owned by Capital One.  A strategic partners is a standalone company that we work with on an integrated basis.


Q
Could you please define a, quote, "strategic alliance with other entities," unquote, as you understand that term in the context of your testimony and the proposed negotiated service agreement?


A
It's my belief that strategic alliance would be an arrangement by which two ‑- Capital One and that organization agree to go into a business endeavor together for the purpose of creating ‑- creating ‑- generating ‑- generating revenues.


Q
In what way does a strategic alliance with other entities differ from an affiliate?


A
We own the affiliate.  We don't own the other company.


Q
Okay.  In what ways does a strategic alliance with other entities differ from a strategic partner?


A
For me personally, I think it's semantics.  I don't think there is ‑- I don't believe there is a formal, definitive difference.  I think it's possible that strategic alliance might have more formal terms and conditions as part of the business arrangement.  For the purposes of my testimony, I wasn't referring to the explicit level of some more formal, structured arrangement.


Q
Could you give me an example of a strategic alliance with another entity that Capital One services or Capital One Financial currently has in place or currently has in place?


A
The Lowe's relationship I mentioned, I consider that to be an alliance in that it's a structured, formalized partnership where we do work sharing.  In many ways, I would say that the NSA is a terrific example of a strategic alliance that is also a partnership with the Postal Service.  Those are both examples of strategic alliances.


Q
On page 5 of your testimony, you provide before rates projection of Capital One's mail volume for Fiscal Year 2003.  How did you estimate this mail volume for Fiscal Year 2003?


A
These projections are based primarily on looking at historical mail patterns and making assumptions of therefore using that as the basis for making future projections.


Q
And could you tell me how you took the historical data and projected it into the future?


A
I'm not able to speak to that in a detailed level, but generally speaking ‑- and again, I think Mr. Elliott's testimony will give some enlightenment here.  But looking at over periods of time what were the mail volumes we were on average delivering for quarterly periods of time and estimating some modest account and asset growth, as we discussed in our SEC filings, and also factoring in things like our goal to leverage electronic return mails.



So these are some of the factors we use to make the calculation or the forecast.


Q
Were you involved in making that forecast?


A
Not directly, no.


Q
On page 6 of your testimony, you indicate that 6 to 12 percent of Capital One's first class solicitation mail is returned as undeliverable.  The data you provided was for 2001.  Do you have any data yet for return rates for 2002?


A
I believe we actually listed here the 2002 data, line 7, approximately 9.6 percent, 2002.


Q
Do you have any updated data for that ‑- from the time your testimony was filed?


A
I don't, other than talking to my folks, who say that basically it is still consistent rates.


Q
On page 4 of your testimony, you state that Capital One expects account growth to slow somewhat, which will moderate growth in first class statement and letter volume.  Does this refer to the growth of Capital One Bank?


A
I prefer again to speak in terms of businesses as opposed to legal entities.  This refers to primarily our credit card business.


Q
All right.  So in other words, it does not refer to your auto finance business or your medical loan business?


A
No.  It reflects our entire corporation, all of it.  But my point is that it is driven by our largest business, which is our credit card business.  But it refers to all of our business at an ingrade level, including international businesses.


Q
How does your international ‑- how is your international business relevant to this negotiated service agreement?


A
I'm sorry.  Are you referring ‑- you were referring to public statements by a company.  I was just clarify for you.


Q
No.  I was referring to on page 4 of your testimony you expect that ‑- you state that Capital One expects account growth to slow somewhat, which will moderate growth in first class statement and letter volume.


A
Okay.  I'm just ‑-


Q
I was asking you how your ‑- any slowdown in your international business would have an effect on the growth in first class statement and letter volume.


A
My apologies.  I thought you were referring to Capital One public SEC filing documents.  And what I want to just clarify there is that information, when it refers to Capital One, refers to all Capital One businesses.  For the purpose of my testimony, you're correct.  What we're referring to in terms of NSA is that we're referring to Capital One business that is impacted by ‑- in the U.S.  So I'm sorry.  Now ask your question again, please.


Q
I think you have answered it.  Thank you.


A
Okay.


Q
When you rent mailing lists, do you rent them for specific number of times you're allowed to use them?


A
We have various arrangements that we form with third party list providers.  Our goal is to do whatever we think is in the best interest of us and them, looking for ways to optimize mutual value creation.  So it varies.


Q
Do you sometimes rent mailing lists for one-time use of that mailing list?


A
It's certainly possible, yes.


Q
Now if you get information back from the Postal Service based on a mail piece in one of those mailings, a mailing that is done with a one-time use list, under this negotiated service agreement, you're apparently going to add the information back into your own database.  Does that violate one-time rental agreements?


A
Ask the question again, please.


Q
If you get information back from the Postal Service as a result of this negotiated service agreement based on a piece of mail that was part of a mailing based on the one-time use of a rented mailing list, and under the negotiated service agreement, you're supposed to add that information back to your own database, my question was would adding that address into your own database violate the terms of a one-time rental agreement?


A
I think it's an excellent question.  The last answer is that someone would have to evaluate further.  While I don't believe we make significant use of one-time rentals, it's a good question.  I'm not prepared to give you an answer.  I know we ‑- I haven't personally discussed that question with my folks.


Q
But you have no way at this point of going and segregating out information you get back that is based on mail pieces in a one-time rental mailing list so that it doesn't get added back to your database in violation of any rental agreements, do you?


A
We ‑- I have not with my folks thought through the question you're asking.  I think it's an excellent question.  So I don't believe we have made preparations to deal with that situation.


Q
Is it your understanding about the negotiated service agreement that there is any guarantee in that document that Capital One Financial or Capital One Services will keep any particular volume of solicitation mail in first class mail?


A
Again, I don't ‑- if you'd repeat the question with your wording.  I want to make sure I understand your wording.


Q
Is it your understanding of the negotiated service agreement that there is in that document any guarantee that Capital One Services or Capital One Financial will keep any amount of solicitation mail in first class mail?


A
Yeah.  But what I wanted to make sure was guarantee.  The agreement with the Postal Service indicates that if mail volumes are under thresholds, different things will happen.  I don't believe there is any, quote unquote, "guarantees."  There are stipulations for what will happen if mail volume don't reach certain thresholds.  But I don't believe there is any specific guarantees.


Q
Are there any promises that Capital One Services or Capital One Financial has made to the Postal Service that it will keep any particular volume of solicitation mail being sent by first class mail as a result of the negotiated services agreement?


A
For solicitation mail?


Q
Solicitation mail, yes.


A
Actually, the discussions that we have had with the Postal Service have focused on would we dramatically increase.  And what we have told them is that we do not believe this will dramatically increase or decrease first class solicitation volume.


Q
Is it your understanding of the negotiated service agreement or of any other promises or understandings that you have with the Postal Service as a result of the negotiated service agreement that Capital One Services has made any promises or guarantees about moving some of the solicitation mail that you send by standard mail to first class mail?


A
We have made no guarantees.


Q
Do you do more solicitations in standard mail than in first class mail?


A
Again, in the testimony, we refer to the mail forecasts for next year indicated there are standard mail and first class volumes.  You can see that the number for standard mail was, I believe, just under ‑- was it 965 million pieces ‑- whereas the first class was 768.  So you can use those numbers.


Q
When you're trying to decide whether to send solicitation mail by standard mail or first class mail, what are some of the factors that go into the decision-making process?



MR. MAY:  Mr. Chairman, I have to object to that question because the answer may be proprietary information.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Would you rephrase your question, please?



BY MS. CATLER:


Q
When you're trying to decide whether mail will be mailed under the negotiated services agreement, what are some of the factors that will determine whether you're going to mail it under the negotiated service agreement or by standard mail?



MR. MAY:  I renew my objection.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  I think if the witness could answer that, we'll allow it.



THE WITNESS:  I think I could speak to the general ‑- at the general level, in that there are different features of the first class product versus standard product.  You have the forwarding feature.  You have the timeliness of delivery feature.  You have the return mail feature.  And while I can't speak to the specific algorithms and the weightings that we use, those are factors that are considered in deciding between first class, standard, as well as other marketing channels, like the Internet or telemarketing.



BY MS. CATLER:


Q
Now Capital One doesn't do telemarketing.  Is that correct?


A
That's not correct.


Q
Okay.  Do some parts of Capital One not do telemarketing?  Am I ‑- I thought I saw those ads on the television that says Capital One does not do telemarketing.


A
You've seen the advertisements that we talk about for certain products.


Q
Ah, okay.  Which products do you not do telemarketing for?


A
I'm afraid I'm not in a position to give you a detailed answer, but we do make use of telemarketing in the U.S. credit card business and the auto loan business, which are two primary businesses in the United States.


Q
Okay.  Is one of the products and services that Capital One Services provides for Capital One Financial and its affiliates telemarketing services?


A
I believe the answer is yes.  We do provide ‑- we do manage telemarketing service providers for our different business lines.


Q
Which business lines then do you not do telemarketing for?


A
I'm afraid I can't answer that question at that specific level.  I can tell you that we do at the general level make use of telemarketing.  The commercial you're referring to, the Capital One No Hassle Card on TV, that particular product we don't use telemarketing.  Other products we do use telemarketing.


Q
So you're saying ‑- for example, if you had like the Lowe's Capital One card, which is not the Capital One No Hassles Card, you might get telemarketing calls trying to pitch you additional products or services?


A
Yeah, it's possible.


Q
Okay.  But only the No Hassle Card has no telemarketing.


A
I'm not sure if that's the only one, but that is actually honestly the only one I'm aware of where we're looking at that explicit commitment to no telemarketing.


Q
Okay.  For that one product, or for any other products for which you do not do telemarketing, are the pitches for additional services that in other situations would be done by telemarketing ‑- those pitches are still made to current customers, but by other means.  Isn't that right?


A
We offer products and services to existing Capital One customers through a variety of channels.  Statements is an example.  It's a terrific channel for providing other offers, offers to our customers.  But, yeah, we do use multiple channels.


Q
All right.  And certainly, if you're sending a statement, that needs to go by first class mail.


A
That's correct.  We also make offers through if customers call in customer service, doing cross sales through even our VRU system or ‑-


Q
Excuse me.  What is a VRU system?


A
Voice response.  You'd say push the buttons on the telephone, those wonderful things.


Q
Yes.


A
Those are channels for cross sales, or live service reps are other channels for cross sale products.


Q
When you send standalone mail to current customers, not as part of a statement, but to try to cross sell them various services, is that counted as customer mail or solicitation mail?


A
The way we have defined it is that would be customer mail.  It is mailing to a customer.  You may be soliciting for a product or service, but that's to a customer as opposed to a prospect.


Q
Is it possible that that mail will go either first class or standard?


A
Yeah, it's possible.


Q
All right.  On page 5 of your testimony, you provide a before rates projection of Capital One's mail volume at Fiscal Year 2003.  In your testimony, you indicate that these projections were based on estimates made by business managers.  You have identified five affiliates of Capital One Services.  Did you speak to business managers, or did someone under your direction and control speak to business managers, of all five of those businesses in order to make the projections of Capital One's mail volume that are on page 5 of your testimony?


A
I didn't personally speak to any business manager about these mail volume projections.  Members of my team did speak to members of our team.  I don't know how many.  I don't know whom.  I do know that they believe that we have put together our best estimate for mail volumes for 2003.


Q
Well, do you know if they spoke to anybody connected to Capital One Bank or Capital One FSB?


A
To anyone?


Q
Yes, someone connected to them, a business manager ‑‑


A
Yes.


Q
‑- connected to those two entities.


A
I don't know how many, but I know they spoke to some of our business managers, yes.


Q
Is it your understanding that a business manager connected to Capital One Auto Finance was spoken to in order to determine the mail volumes that were on page 5 of your testimony?


A
I didn't ask that question that way to my folks.  I asked it do we believe we have our best business forecast for mail volumes for 2003 using available information, and the answer was yes.


Q
And so you really don't know how they got those numbers.


A
I don't know the specifics, no.


Q
Is it part of your, you know, sort of standard budgeting or planning process to inquire on a regular basis about upcoming proposed amounts of mail that is going to be sent?


A
No.  Actually, as I said in the testimony, we actually don't do longer term projections of mail.  We don't actually deem it to be an activity that is particular relevant, given that business conditions change so much.  We think about ‑- we make projections more in terms of six months or less.  And again, we think about it in a more integrated, multichannel perspective.


Q
So in other words, to ask people, these companies, for a longer term projection was an unusual thing for your company to be doing.


A
We haven't done it before.  That's correct.


Q
Do you have any idea what ‑- how they were asked to go and make these estimates for up to a year in advance of mailing that they anticipated?


A
I'm afraid I don't.


Q
You don't know if there was any standard questions that were asked of everybody or survey instrument or form that was filled out or anything like that?


A
No.  And I'm not trying to be evasive here at all.  Basically, we believe we have very talented people who know their businesses, and we give them some leeway in terms of making their best business evaluations and give them some time to do that.


Q
All right.  Does the content of solicitation sent by first class mail vary from the content of those sent by standard mail, such as including more individualized information?


A
No, not necessarily.


Q
What factors determine if Capital One uses first class or standard mail to send its solicitations?



MR. MAY:  Mr. Chairman, that has been asked and answered, to the extent that it doesn't invade proprietary information.  The witness has answered the question from counsel already.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  All right.  Maybe one more time, and then we'll go on, Ms. Catler.



THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Again, we evaluate price because, obviously, there is a different price for first or standard.  But with that incremental price for first class, you have other features:  deliverability, forwarding, and returns in particular.  So we evaluate that relative to standard, and then we also evaluate other channels such as telemarketing and the Internet.



MS. CATLER:  Thank you.  I have no further questions at this time.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Thank you.  Does anyone else wish to cross-examine this witness?



(No audible response)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Is there any follow-up questions or any questions from the bench?  Commissioner Hammond.



COMMISSIONER HAMMOND:  Well, I did have some questions along the line of use of rental list.  But I know you have already responded basically to the earlier questions that you really don't have an answer.  Let me try briefly to ask in just a little different manner to see if it might work.



Can you tell me what would be the value to Capital One getting a return back from a name on a rental list that you did not plan to mail to again, whether it's electronic or physical return?



THE WITNESS:  Let me see if I can rephrase.  Are you saying what is the value of receiving a new forward address information?



COMMISSIONER HAMMOND:  No, not a new forward address.  When ‑- if you're using a rental list, and you get the return back because it is a bad address, what value is it to you if you're not ‑- it's a rental list.  It's not part of your house file with known customers.  You have made a prospect mailing, and you have done it from a rented list.  You're planning on one-time use of that rental list.  So what value is it to you if you get the return back electronically, physically, or any way?  What do you do with that record that you get back?



THE WITNESS:  Well, to answer your question, to the extent that we have actually determined definitively that we would not mail that prospect again, I would see very little if any value to that information that we received from the Postal Service.



COMMISSIONER HAMMOND:  Okay.  And just one other quick question which came up during the answers.  Capital One does not plan on violating any rental list agreement as a result of this potential NSA.  Would that be a fair statement?



THE WITNESS:  Capital One has absolutely no intention of violating any rental list agreement, you know, now or in the future, NSA or no NSA.



COMMISSIONER HAMMOND:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.  All I was needing to know.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Mr. Covington.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Good morning, Mr. Jean.  I had a few general questions, and I wanted to follow up with a question that Ms. Catler poised to you a little bit earlier in her cross-examination.  I looked, and I noticed where your Richmond production site is ‑- I guess was certified under the mail preparation total quality management program, and probably was one of the first in your field.  Specifically, what year was that when that MPTQM designation was granted to your company?



THE WITNESS:  I know it was recent.  I don't know if it was this year or last year, but it certainly was recent.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  So it's fairly new.



THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  And I noticed that with your Seattle facility that you stated in your testimony ‑- I think you responded to some questions that were poised to you that you're looking at December 2003 as to having the Seattle facility granted the same certification.  All right.  And I want to know will you still seek that certification regardless of the outcome of this case?



THE WITNESS:  That's my understanding, absolutely, that we will pursue that.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  Now in your testimony, Mr. Jean, you did a good job of pointing out the pluses and the upside to Capital One and to the Postal Service if this mail classification is approved.  And I wanted to know, you specifically stated there were going to be benefits to this proposal as far as other postal stakeholders.



So I'd like to know who these other postal stakeholders are.  Are you talking about letter shops, which would be a part of your business anyway?  But specifically, what benefit will other postal stakeholders get if this mail classification is granted?



THE WITNESS:  What I was referring to is the idea that if Capital One can work with the Postal Service to help make the Postal Service more efficient, any stakeholder of the Postal Service in the end benefits from that result.  So, you know, everyone, including those of us in this room, if we actually have a more efficient postal service, benefit in some way from that arrangement.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  So you're talking about industry.



THE WITNESS:  I'm speaking very broadly at key stakeholders of the Postal Service.  So I think as taxpayers, if this agreement can help make the Postal Service more efficient, then we as taxpayers benefit from that, which is why also Capital One is incredibly supportive of the Postal Service pursuing other NSA arrangements with other providers that can bring unique arrangements to the Postal Service.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  Now you raised, Mr. Jean, a very, very prominent factor that is an underlying key to your success at Capital One, and that's ‑- do you remember mentioning mobility of the addressees?



THE WITNESS:  In the testimony?  Yes.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  Now are you in a position to answer this question for me?  Why does Capital One not forecast return mail rates?



THE WITNESS:  I think I can answer that question.  It's not an activity that we have deemed to be particularly useful, meaningful in our overall business process.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  Well, then under this proposal, this mail classification, do you see a need to start?  And if so, why, and if not, why not?



THE WITNESS:  There are requirements in terms of postal tracking, which I can't speak to at a detailed level.  But generally speaking, our level of tracking and rigor around postal delivery will go up under the terms of the NSA.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  And so that means will go up, you mean increase.



THE WITNESS:  Increase, yes.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  Now Ms. Catler asked you an interesting question with regards to the test year before rate volume as far as forecasting was concerned.  I think she asked you what supporting documentation did you use, and you more or less responded SEC filings and et cetera and so forth.  And I think you also mentioned historical trends, which I think that we may have to rely on witness Elliott to expound on.



But lengthwise, do you know as far as historical trends how far back did you go, period in time?



THE WITNESS:  How far back did we go when creating our forecast for 2003 mail volumes?



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  That's correct.



THE WITNESS:  I don't know specifically.  I believe we went back several years.  I know my ‑- and our folks are familiar with Mr. Elliott's testimony and the data that he used.  So certainly as far back as that information we used.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  Now you know that there are some broad policy issues just associated with this classification question.  Well, first of all, the negotiated service agreement as a whole, what is going ‑- how address correction is going to affect you and the way you are going to deal with that arrangement as far as, you know, declining block discounts and so forth.



Now in your professional opinion, Mr. Jean, do you agree that it is appropriate that you look at the impact of all of these policy issues over the duration of this experiment, as opposed to only during the test year?



THE WITNESS:  I believe that Capital One and the Postal Service need to continually evaluate how the agreement is performing over the three-year period.  So I believe the answer is absolutely yes.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  So in other words, you agree that you need to go beyond the test year as far as looking at ‑-



THE WITNESS:  Yeah.  The first year was given as a threshold, but we certainly hope that we go past that threshold for the full three years.  But even if we do so, we need to certainly evaluate all information available for the full three years.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  I like that response.  Now you have stated in your testimony that Capital One and the United States Postal Service will jointly develop ‑- let me see.  I think your correct term was an audit process, will jointly develop an audit process to ensure, basically, that your records are updating appropriately with the electronic address correction system information.



Now as far as this audit process, explain to me what that means.  When will this actually be done, and where in the process of the NSA can we expect it to be initiated?  First of all, tell me what the audit process is going to be.



THE WITNESS:  It's my understanding at the general level that we need to ensure that the information is indeed updated into our database within two days, as specified, and that it is systematically in an appropriate format agreed upon by Capital One and the USPS.  I'm not sure what that specific format is, but it certainly needs to be agreed upon by both parties.



I think that's the primary intention of the audit, that it's done in a timely manner, and the quality of it is acceptable to both parties.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Beginning immediately?



THE WITNESS:  It's a condition for the NSA to begin.  We must be prepared to do so.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  Have you looked at who or what from an organizational standpoint of view what ‑- I guess it would be what faction of the Postal Service will be involved in doing this audit process with you.  I know it's going to be an operational issue.



THE WITNESS:  Right.  I personally have not, but members of my team have certainly had detailed discussions with members of the Postal Service to determine how the process will work, who will do it, what is acceptable conditions during the audit, that type of thing.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you, witness Jean.  I have no more questions, Mr. Chairman.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Commissioner Goldway.



COMMISSIONER GOLDWAY:  I believe in your last set of questions that you were asked whether in the negotiations with the USPS you had made any guarantees that you would increase first class mail as a result of being offered these declining block discounts, and you said no, you had not made any guarantees.



THE WITNESS:  That's correct.



COMMISSIONER GOLDWAY:  And you also said that you had not made any guarantees with regard to what you would do or not do with regard to shifting standard mail usage.



THE WITNESS:  That's correct.



COMMISSIONER GOLDWAY:  If there are no guarantees for the Postal Service to increase volume, what is the efficiency that the Postal Service gets from this agreement with you?



THE WITNESS:  We have told the Postal Service that it is our expectation that mail volumes going forward will be consistent with historical patterns, with perhaps modest growth.  While I'm not willing to guarantee that, I am confident that they will be consistent.  But more importantly, the Postal Service benefits from the fact that any return mail which today is handled ‑- solicitation mail is sent to us physically now may be sent electronically at a substantial savings to the Postal Service.



COMMISSIONER GOLDWAY:  So to the extent there is a clear gain in efficiency for the Postal Service, it's with regard to handling undeliverable-as-addressed mail or forwarding address mail.  That's where the real efficiencies are in this agreement.



THE WITNESS:  I believe the primary benefit is a shift from having to handle the mail ‑- return the mail physically to us to actually being able to do it electronically.  I do believe that the Postal Service has a secondary benefit by providing us with this block discount to stimulate mail growth because I actually believe that if the Postal Service can encourage us to leverage first class mail over other channels, that is actually more business for them.  If they are able to get more business, that's more revenue, more contribution margin.



COMMISSIONER GOLDWAY:  The declining block volumes that you were negotiating, you said they were based on what is your anticipation for growth anyway.



THE WITNESS:  The declining block discounts were negotiated ‑- this may sound very simple, but what we negotiated, they are based on the agreement that we reached with the Postal Service, based on multiple factors.



COMMISSIONER GOLDWAY:  Okay.  Thank you for your answers.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Mr. May.



(No audible response)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Is there anyone else who wishes to cross-examine?  Mr. Costich.



BY MR. COSTICH:


Q
If I could just follow up on some of Commissioner Covington's questions.  Mr. Jean, you have been asked some questions about Capital One's use of rental lists.  Do you know if the volume estimate for solicitation mailings, this 768 million, includes volume that would have come from rented lists?


A
There is no reason for me to believe that we would make any different assumptions going forward than in the past, and we certainly have made some use.  I'm not prepared to give a specific percentage of what percent of our mail is third-party list versus other sources.  But there is no reason for me to believe that we didn't anticipate making, you know, continued use of third party lists.


Q
When you do use rented lists, do you keep them separate from your inhouse solicitation file?


A
Keep them separate?  I'm afraid I can't speak to the actual mechanics of how it is.  We certainly ‑- to whatever terms and conditions we must follow in order to use the list, we meet our list providers' requirements in terms of tracking of usage of the list.  In terms of how technologically the data is captured inhouse, I can't speak to that.  But we do meet all requirements in terms of list usage.


Q
Do you run rental lists against the information that you get from your vendor who processes your returns?


A
As I discussed previously, as we are doing our solicitation address hygiene, that information from the third party service provider is used as part of that process.  So to the extent that we actually will use a third party list for a campaign, that would be part of that process as well.


Q
I think you indicated that if you rented a list for one-time use,  you wouldn't make any corrections to that list.  Is that correct?


A
We would ‑- it is not our responsibility to provide information back to list providers about the ‑- about their list.


Q
And you don't attempt to sell them that kind of information?


A
No.  Capital One does not currently sell any of its lists, its database information.


Q
Would it also be the case that if you rented a list for a fixed number of uses, that when you used it for the last time there would be no benefit to Capital One from any information that you got back from the Postal Service concerning that list?


A
To the extent we made a decision definitively that we wouldn't use that list again, I wouldn't see value from that ‑- any information that would come in from that last ‑- after that last mailing.


Q
Do you rent lists on that basis, a fixed number of uses?


A
We have a wide variety of arrangements that we have.  As one of the largest mailers in the United States, we're a key business partner with list providers, so we negotiate a variety of arrangements with them.


Q
That one is possible then?


A
Absolutely.


Q
Negotiating a use of a list for a fixed amount of time, is that a possibility?


A
Everything from one time to all you can eat, if you want to use that very colloquial term.


Q
Well, if you rented a list on that basis, wouldn't you just integrate it into your inhouse database?


A
Again, from a technological, mechanic standpoint, I'm not sure how it would work.  We would ‑- sorry.  Perhaps ‑- if I could answer your question further, but mechanically, I'm not sure how it would work.  Are you trying to get ‑- to add something else?


Q
Just that if you rented a list on that basis, there really wouldn't be any difference between that list and your inhouse database in terms of how you could use it.


A
That would be correct.  There might be some time duration, so for the purpose of that time duration, that information we have access to in using, and we have rights to it.  So yes, it's in some ways ‑- I can say that it's similar to being our own information for that period of time.


Q
But if we can sum up, if you do rent a list, and then decide that this is the last time that you're going to use it, then any information that you got back from the Postal Service concerning that last use would be of no value to Capital One.


A
At this particular time, I can't see how it would be valuable.  But the point I'd like to make here is that we are talking about pretty new, groundbreaking stuff.  There is no mailer that I'm aware of that actually receives forwarding information at this level from the Postal Service, so this is new stuff.  So these issues are new issues to grapple with.  So I certainly welcome the opportunity to think about this more and evaluate it more internally.  But at this particular time, no, I'm not sure that at this particular time I'd see the value if we definitively decided not to do a future mailing.


Q
And you can't estimate how much volume that might represent?


A
What would represent?


Q
Any decision not to use a list in the future.


A
I'm not sure what percentage that would represent of our prospect mailings, no.



MR. COSTICH:  Thank you.  I have no further questions.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Thank you, Mr. Costich.  Mr. Jean, I have one question.  Will this NSA, if it is granted, give Capital One an advantage over other banks?



THE WITNESS:  We have discussed that question at some length within my team.  I don't believe it gives us a, quote unquote, "advantage."  I believe this creates a win for the Postal Service and a win for us in that we have a better situation than we did before.  There are many, many factors in business, and the direct marketing business, and there are others that have other competitive advantages that we don't.



This does give us a pricing structure that can be competitive.  Yet we welcome any other mailer who match the conditions of our NSA to receive the same benefits.  If they choose to mail the solicitations volumes we're talking about, we welcome them to be part of the same terms, conditions, and benefits.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Thank you.  Mr. May, would you like some time with your witness?



MR. MAY:  Yes.  Thanks, Mr. Chairman.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Well, with that, we'll take our midmorning break.



MR. MAY:  Thank you.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Or late morning break, whichever.



MR. MAY:  Thank you.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Let's say we come back in about 10 minutes.



MR. MAY:  Fine.  Thank you.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Is that enough time?



MR. MAY:  That's fine.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Thank you.



(Recess)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Mr. May.



MR. MAY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Just a few questions on redirect.


REDIRECT EXAMINATION



BY MR. MAY:


Q
Mr. Jean, Commissioner Hammond and others asked you about what will happen in the instance of the rental lists that you have used, so when corrections come back, and with the particular example of a deal where you would have a one-time use under your rental agreement, and the suggestion that that might violate the agreement with the rental agreement if you were to record that information.



You have now had the chance to talk to your staff.  Do you wish to correct the record on what your previous testimony was?


A
I do.  It's good to have a smart staff.  They have clarified for me that today, under the ‑- you know, no NSA ‑- when we receive returned mail information, that information is ours.  We have rights to that.  So with or without the NSA, we have rights to that updated information and make use of it as we see fit.  That does not violate the terms of the agreement with our list providers.


Q
Well, and you were asked about whether it would have any value to you if you were only having a one-time usage of that.  Would it have value to you even if it were only a one-time usage of that rent?


A
To the extent that we would potentially evaluate that mail to that prospect again, yes.  What I was referring to is we actually made a decision never to mail to that prospect, it would not have value.  To the extent that we would actually potentially consider mailing that prospect at a different address, that is valuable because if we still would consider that prospect, but get new list information, the fact that we would know that the address was, quote unquote, "undeliverable," is certainly valuable.


Q
Does that mean that you would ‑- that you rented another list at some time, and that name were on it, that your information base would be able to correct that new list?


A
We would have that information.  Again, we would use that as part of our evaluation process for future solicitations.  But there would be value in our algorithm of having that information, that it was either ‑- it was returned as undeliverable in that evaluation process.  There would be value in that.


Q
Thank you.  And you were asked about the value of this deal to stakeholders, and you were asked about, well, who are these stakeholders, and I believe you talked about the mailers in general would be value.  Were you just ‑- were you talking about large mailers, or ‑-


A
No.  I just spoke very broadly.  To the extent that this agreement does in fact generate additional mail volume from Capital One, I think the Postal Service benefits top to bottom, not only from management, but also the postal workers themselves because more business, more volume, more jobs.  So I see a broad base of constituents that would benefit here.


Q
Now Commissioner Covington asked you about the value and necessity of monitoring the various performances in this agreement over a three-year period.  And I believe you said that, yes, you thought it was important that Capital One and the Postal Service would monitor the developments, not just in the first year, the test year, but in the out years.



You did not testify, did you, that you thought that the Commission needed now estimates of three years of performance in order to approve this agreement?


A
Oh, absolutely not.  What I was saying is that we have negotiated a three-year arrangement, and I believe that the Postal Service and Capital One should look at the performance of the arrangement over the three-year period and evaluate that for future arrangements.  I was speaking only to future arrangements, not to the approval of this arrangement.


Q
Now also, Commissioner Goldway was asking you about the ‑- just what are the values or efficiencies to the Postal Service from giving you declining block rates for volumes perhaps that you already expect to mail, at least in the first year.  And your response, I believe, was that, well, this was ‑- indeed, the principal value was the fact that the Postal Service no longer had to return physically these nixies.



But isn't it the case that you also are facing a million dollar penalty if you fail to mail 750 million pieces of first class mail?


A
Yeah.  I wasn't explicit about that, but my point was that there are terms, there are provisions within the agreement that if Capital One doesn't deliver certain mail volumes, that the Postal Service will receive the greater of ‑- you know, the million dollars or whatever the cost of ACS, as an example.  So, yeah, there are a number of provisions to protect the Postal Service.


Q
And you also, I believe, agree to list cleansing requirements that will assist not only you, but the Postal Service.


A
Yes, that's correct.


Q
I mean, is it also your testimony that this was a package deal that you negotiated with the Postal Service?


A
Could you elaborate a bit?


Q
Well, that there is a whole variety of terms in this agreement.


A
Yeah.  This is one integrated negotiated agreement with the Postal Service.  This is not, you know, decompress one element versus the other.  This is all together, one integrated agreement.


Q
So would you be able to take any one part of this agreement and say, yeah, that's the agreement?


A
No.  That's not what we negotiated.  So to do that would actually take us back virtually to the beginning.



MR. MAY:  That's all, Mr. Chairman.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  All right.  Are there any follow-up questions as a result of redirect?



(No audible response)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  There being none, Mr. Jean, that completes your testimony here today.  And we appreciate your appearance and your contributions to our records.



THE WITNESS:  Thank you very much.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Thank you, and you are now excused.



(Witness excused)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Mr. May.



MR. MAY:  Dr. Stuart Elliott, please.



Whereupon,


STUART ELLIOTT



having been duly sworn, was called as a witness and was examined and testified as follows:



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Please be seated.


DIRECT EXAMINATION



MR. MAY:  Dr. Elliott, I'm going to hand you two copies of a document captioned, "Direct Testimony of Stuart Elliott on Behalf of Capital One Services, Inc., COF-T-2."  I ask you to examine these documents and see whether that is the testimony that you prepared for this proceeding.




(The document referred to was marked for identification as Exhibit COF-T-2.)_



THE WITNESS:  It is.



BY MR. MAY:


Q
And if you were to testify fully today, this would be your testimony?


A
Yes, it would.


Q
And just for the record, this testimony does include revisions that were made to your testimony.  So this is the revised version, is it not?


A
That is correct.



MR. MAY:  Chairman, I am going to hand two copies of the document to the reporter.  I ask that it be transcribed in the record and admitted into evidence.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Is there any objection?



(No audible response)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Hearing none, I will direct counsel to provide the reporter with two copies of corrected direct testimony of Stuart Elliott.  The testimony is received, and is to be transcribed into evidence.




(The document referred to, previously marked for identification as Exhibit COF-T-2, was received in evidence.)

//

//

//

//

//

//

//



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Mr. Elliott, have you had an opportunity to examine the packet of designated written cross-examination that was made available to you in the hearing room this morning?



THE WITNESS:  I don't believe so.  Perhaps I'll do that now.



(Witness examined document)



THE WITNESS:  Okay.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  If the questions contained in that packet were posed to you orally today, would your answers be the same as those you previously provided in writing?



THE WITNESS:  Yes, they would.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Are there any corrections or additions you would like to make to those answers?



THE WITNESS:  No, not at this time.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Counsel, would you please provide two copies of the corrected, designated written cross-examination of witness Elliott to the reporter?  That material is received into evidence and is to be transcribed into the record.




(The document referred to was marked for identification as COS-T-2 and received in evidence.)

//



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Is there any additional written cross-examination for witness Elliott?



(No audible response)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  This brings us to oral cross-examination.  One party has requested oral cross-examination, the American Postal Workers Union, AFL-CIO.  Ms. Catler, it is sort of the bewitching hour.  It is 12:00 noon.  Do you know about how long you might take with this witness?



MS. CATLER:  Mr. Chairman, I have further reviewed the questions that I was anticipating asking witness Elliott, and I do not have any questions to ask him at this time.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Thank you.  Is there anyone else who may have any questions, any questions from the bench for Mr. Elliott?  Commissioner Goldway.



COMMISSIONER GOLDWAY:  Dr. Elliott, as I understand your testimony, you propose two alternative methods for forecasting Capital One mail class volumes in the test year 2003.  The first method uses the price elasticity of first class work shared letters minus 0.071, and the second uses the price elasticity of standard regular mail at 0.388.



Do you agree that Mr. Thress, who works with Dr. Tolley, estimated these elasticities in R 2001-1?



THE WITNESS:  Yes.



COMMISSIONER GOLDWAY:  And do you agree that these elasticities are a market or a subclass demand at elasticities, and thus they measure the average demand responsivenesses of all subclass mailers to a change in price?



THE WITNESS:  They are averaged over all of the mailers in that class or subclass, yes.



COMMISSIONER GOLDWAY:  Is there anything in economic theory to support the assumption that an individual user of the subclass, such as Capital One, will necessarily have the same demand elasticity as the entire subclass?



THE WITNESS:  No.  One would suspect that one could make an analogy, but it is an analogy.



COMMISSIONER GOLDWAY:  So that it might be a very different number than what the averages are.



THE WITNESS:  They are members of the class, at least in the case with the first model.  We're talking about first class work shared mail.  So in that sense their portion of the mail is part of that average that the Postal Service has estimated.



COMMISSIONER GOLDWAY:  But the average could be a bell curve, for instance.



THE WITNESS:  Yes.  That is correct.



COMMISSIONER GOLDWAY:  Okay.  Thank you.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Commissioner Covington.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Basically, I just had a couple of questions for you, Dr. Elliott, that I hadn't been able to quite find the answers to.  First of all, I wanted to know how long specifically have you tracked volume data for Capital One?



THE WITNESS:  I don't understand your question.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  Let me begin over again.  Well, when did you get involved with working with Capital One?



THE WITNESS:  I believe our first conversations were in May of this year.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  So May of 2002.



THE WITNESS:  That's correct.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  And if I understand correctly, or clarify me if I'm wrong, according to witness Jean, you did have ‑- I mean, looked at those historical trends and so forth that were used for the base year volume rate volume projections, correct?



THE WITNESS:  In my testimony, I compare the projections made by the company to the historical record of its mailings, yes.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  Then do you have any input or any responsibility for compilation of the Security Exchange Commission filings, or do you see where maybe your firm will in the future?



THE WITNESS:  No.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  As it relates to Capital One?



THE WITNESS:  No.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  And can you clearly state to me and to the Commission that evidence suggests that Fiscal Year 2003 is representative or would be representative during the course of this experiment, if we were to allow or approve the negotiated service agreement, which is the matter that's before us now?  And the reason i say that is because ‑- are you familiar with the PARS implementation and discount leakage and so forth?



THE WITNESS:  I have not reviewed those portions of the case, no.  I guess I'm not sure exactly what question you're asking in relation to my testimony.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  What I was stating was that from the information that you submitted within the testimony and the questions, you know, that you're answering here now, do you think that ‑- and you were looking specifically ‑- first of all, let me make sure you were looking specifically or asked to look specifically only at Fiscal Year 2003.



THE WITNESS:  That is correct.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  By Capital One.



THE WITNESS:  Yes.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  So in other words, from a visionary standpoint of view, you're not prepared to elaborate on anything beyond that time period.



THE WITNESS:  That is correct.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay.  Thank you, Dr. Elliott.  That's all I have.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Mr. May, do you need any time with your witness?



MR. MAY:  No.  Nothing further.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Mr. Elliott, that brings us to complete your testimony here today.  We thank you for your appearance, and you are now excused.



(Witness excused)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  I think what we'll do is we'll take about an hour break for lunch.  And we'll come back at 1 o'clock.  Thank you.



(Whereupon, at 12:03 p.m., a luncheon recess was taken.)

//

//

//

//

//

//


A F T E R N O O N   S E S S I O N

(1:02 p.m.)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Ms. McKenzie, would you introduce the next witness, please?



MS. MCKENZIE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  The Postal Service calls Charles Crum.



Whereupon,


CHARLES L. CRUM



having been previously duly sworn, was called as a witness herein and was examined and testified as follows:



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Please be seated.


DIRECT EXAMINATION



BY MS. MCKENZIE:


Q
Mr. Crum, what is your current position?


A
Yes, I'm an economist in the Pricing Strategy Group.


Q
You have before you two copies of a document entitled, USPC-T-3, titled "Direct Testimony on Charles L. Crum on behalf of the United States Postal Service."  Did you have a chance to examine them?


A
Yes, I did.


Q
Was this testimony prepared by you?


A
Yes, it was.


Q
Are there any revisions to your testimony, as it was filed with the original case?


A
Yes.  I had marked some very minor revisions on Attachment A, page 1, and they're in the document here.


Q
And how did these revisions come to your attention?


A
When we filed a response to APWU listing numbers for fiscal year 2002, we noticed that there was a very small numerical error in the items originally filed, and we corrected that for fiscal year 2001.



MS. MCKENZIE:  I'd like to note, I have additional copies of these revisions on the table behind me.  And, in fact, we'll bring up some of the copies for the Commissioners.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Okay, thank you.



BY MS. MCKENZIE:


Q
If you were to testify orally today, would your testimony be the same as in the documents before you?


A
Yes.


Q
Mr. Crum, is it your intention to sponsor library reference USPS-LR-1, category 2, library reference?


A
Yes.



MS. MCKENZIE:  Mr. Chairman, I ask that the direct testimony of Charles L. Crum, on behalf of the Postal Service, be marked as USPS-T-3, and the library reference associated with this testimony be received into evidence, at this time.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Thank you.  I will direct counsel to provide the reporter with two copies of the corrected direct testimony on Charles L. Crum.  That testimony is received into evidence.  And as is our practice, direct testimony of the Postal Service will not be transcribed.




(The document referred to was marked for identification as  Exhibit No. USPS-T-3 and received in evidence.)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Mr. Crum, have you had an opportunity to examine the packet of designated written cross-examination that was made available to you in the hearing room today?



THE WITNESS:  Yes, I have.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  If the questions contained in that packet were posed to you orally today, would your answers be the same as those you provided in writing?



THE WITNESS:  Yes.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Are there any additional corrections or additions you'd like to make to your answers?



THE WITNESS:  No.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Counsel, would you, please, provide two copies of the corrected designated written examination of witness Crum to the reporter?  That material is received into evidence and it is to be transcribed into the record.




(The document referred to was marked for identification as  Exhibit No. USPS-T-3 and received in evidence.)

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Is there any additional written cross-examination for witness Crum?  Mr. Baker?



MR. BAKER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I'm going to hand the witness two copies of his answers to NAA's interrogatories, NAA/USPS-T3, number 16 through 22, which were filed, I believe, yesterday or the day before -- recently.  And I ask him if the questions were asked today, would his answers be the same.



THE WITNESS:  Yes, these look like them.



MR. BAKER:  And with that, Mr. Chairman, I move their admission in the record as additional of any cross-examination.




(The document referred to was marked for identification as  Exhibit No. NAA/USPS-T3 and received in evidence.)

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Mr. Costich?



MR. COSTICH:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Mr. Crum, I'm going to show you copies of your responses to OCA interrogatories, T3-22 through T3-25, and also T3-27.  If I were to pose these questions to you orally today, would your answers be the same?



THE WITNESS:  Yes.



MR. COSTICH:  Mr. Chairman, I move the admission of these interrogatory responses into the record.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Without objection.




(The document referred to was marked for identification as  Exhibit No. OCA/USPS-T3 and received in evidence.)

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  This brings us to oral cross-examination.



MR. MAY:  Mr. Chairman?



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Yes, Mr. May.



MR. MAY:  These are late designations and so we all discussed them late.  But as I understand Mr. Baker did not designate the response to OCA 27 -- I mean, excuse me, that Mr. Costich did not?



MR. COSTICH:  Twenty-six was the one I did.



MR. MAY:  But not 27?



MR. COSTICH:  Twenty-seven is, yes.



MR. MAY:  Well, I'd like to designate the response to 27.  I do not have two copies; I have one copy.



MR. COSTICH:  Twenty-seven was in the packet that I handed to the reporter.



MR. MAY:  Okay, thank you.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Okay.



MR. COSTICH:  Twenty-six is the one that was omitted.



MR. MAY:  Oh, I'm sorry, 26 is.  I thought it was 27.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Okay.  This, then, brings us to oral cross-examination.  Three parties have requested to orally cross-examination the witness:  the American Postal Workers Union, AFL-CIO, the National Newspaper Association of America, and the Office of Consumer Advocate.  Ms. Catler?



MS. CATLER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


CROSS-EXAMINATION



BY MS. CATLER:


Q
Good afternoon, Mr. Crum.


A
Good afternoon.


Q
The American Banker's Association, in their question ABA/USPS-T3-1, asked you to confirm that the weighted cost per piece for physical return is 53 cents per piece, and then asked you what the forwarding cost per piece were and you responded that it was 31 cents per piece.  Could you explain to me why it cost 53 cents to return a piece to the center and 31 cents to forward it to an updated address?


A
Well, I guess those numbers, the 53.47 comes out of my library reference 1, which is again based on the historical library reference J-69, and the 30.7 is based on library reference J-69.  I haven't actually compared those, because forwarding costs aren't in my testimony.  If you would like me to go through the numbers and try to do that now, I have not done that according to my filing.


Q
It just seems to me, I can't figure out why there would be a 23 cent difference between forwarding it, which is a piece here and a piece there going to all different places, versus -- how many tons of returned mail does Capital One get everyday?  I mean, there must be some economies of scale on returning mail.  And I'm just looking for an explanation of why those two numbers are so different, when it would seem to me that, off the top of my head, I would think returning mail would be easier.  It goes back to a business.


A
I don't really feel comfortable going through that.  I'm certainly not the operational expert on returned mail.  Through conversations with the operational expert on return and forwarded mail, between talking to him, I could certainly explain the cost.  But, being able to -- I'm not going to be able to explain exactly why operationally forwarding costs less than returns.



I can go through the two spreadsheets and explain to you the CFS processing and prior and forwarding and carrier preparation.  You've got 29.95 cents of mail stream processing for returned addresses, and you have 12 cents in mail stream processing for forwarding.  That accounts for 17 cents of that difference.  That would account for -- we're talking between 30 and 53.  That would account for 17 of the 23 cents that's just in mail stream processing.


Q
But do you have any idea why the mail stream processing costs would be so different for these two?


A
I mean, I don't want to guess.  I probably have a number of theories, but that's not my area of expertise.


Q
These are both numbers that you have presented in your testimony and I would -- I'm just concerned, because they -- I understand these are the numbers that the Postal Service has generated, but they just don't make logical sense to me that they should be that different.


A
I did not present the 30.7 cents in my testimony.  That's an interrogatory response.


Q
Well, I think it's now your testimony, but I'm not 100 percent sure, because I believe it was designated.


A
I probably don't understand the technical legal definition, but that was not intended to be part of my description of the value of this NFA to the Postal Service.


Q
I understand that you're not prepared to answer this now.  Is there a way that we can get this answered in the future?



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Ms. McKenzie?



MS. MCKENZIE:  Mr. Chairman, we will attempt to provide an institutional response that compares the two costs.  And then, we can get a spreadsheet, I suppose, showing the two elements in the breakdown, and then describe the processes, okay, as well as what underlies mail processing costs for the forwarded versus the return.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Can you have that to us by Friday?



MS. MCKENZIE:  We'll try to do it by Friday.  It does involve talking to, I think, other people than we have normally been talking to, to get some of the detail.  But, we'll do the best we can by Friday.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  All right, thank you.



MS. CATLER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.



BY MS. CATLER:


Q
In your response to APW/USPS-T3-1, subpart B, you indicate that you do not include any saving for avoiding forwarding costs in your testimony; is that correct?


A
That's correct.


Q
What about the additional cost of forwarding for those mailers, who are currently using I guess what in the future would be called option one, who switch from option one to the new option two, that they will now get forwarding?  Did you include the additional costs of forwarding for those folks that you anticipate shifting from option one to option two, if option two is added to the domestic mail classification schedule, as a result of this case?


A
Well, first of all, CSR option two has nothing to do with the Capital One case.  That was decided, I think, in 2001, which perceived any discussions that I understand was Capital One probably by a full year.  So, CSR option two has nothing to do with this case.  And if that's to be instituted, that will be instituted regardless of what happens with Capital One, NSA, and what the Commission decides.


Q
I may be asking the wrong person on this one, but I believe those require a change to the domestic mail classification schedule, which has not yet been approved by the Commission.  And my understanding was that this was as a result of this proceeding, that might be added to the domestic mail classification schedule.



MS. MCKENZIE:  Objection, Mr. Chairman.  Well, as to whether it belongs in the domestic mail classification schedule certainly is a legal argument to be made and not made with the cost witness.  The DMCS language that we propose doesn't have something specific for change service requested option two.



Under change service requested option two, the Postal Service will be providing electronic notification.  So, absent this NSA, people will be paying for electronic notification 20 cents a piece.  And that's already in the DMCS.



MS. CATLER:  But, do they get forwarding service currently?



MS. MCKENZIE:  Well, the current CSR, they don't have forwarding service.  They will be getting forwarding service.  But, the provision or absence of forwarding is not in the current DMCS language as it is.



MS. CATLER:  Well, if as a result of what's happening here or the people, who currently are paying 20 cents a piece to get electronic information, but are not getting their mail forwarded, can continue to pay 20 cents a piece, can continue to get electronic update, but can also get it forwarded, my guess is a lot of them are going to migrate and the Postal Service will then have a cost of forwarding that mail.  And I'm wondering from the cost witness whether that cost is being added in to go and figure out the total benefits of this package, which includes adding option two to the SR.



THE WITNESS:  I would like to say one thing.  The only way this relates to what the Capital One arrangement is that forwarding is free in first-class mail.  So, there's no change for first-class mailers.  They get forwarding for free.  They will continue to get forwarding for free.



MS. CATLER:  But, if people currently are paying 20 cents for the electronic update, they don't get forwarding.  So that if they change to option two, they will get forwarding and there will be a cost to the Postal Service of that forwarding.  And my question --



MR. MAY:  Mr. Chairman, I object to the testimony by counsel.  I don't think counsel has qualified herself as an expert on what the DMM is and she has just made a statement of fact about what's accorded under the current schedule of whether someone gets forwarding.  And the witness just testified that all first-class mail gets forwarded.  Counsel has suggested something to the contrary.  If she includes first-class mail within that statement, if the statement is broader than first-class mail, I object to it on those grounds, because we're talking about first-class mail.



But, I think it's an inappropriate time to go into a rather technical subject.  A more appropriate time is when witness Wilson is on, who is an expert on address correction.  This is a cost witness we have and I just think this is inappropriate colloquy.



MS. CATLER:  Mr. Chairman, really what I'm trying to do is confirm that any additional costs of forwarding of other mailers, who choose to go into option two, who are currently in the current option, which doesn't involve forwarding, has not been included in this cost analysis of the Postal Service.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Well, I think the witness can answer whether the costs were in his testimony.



THE WITNESS:  The costs are not in my testimony, because it's my understanding that CSR option two has nothing to do with the Capital One case.  And regardless of whatever changes might happen to be made, they are unrelated to the Capital One case.



CSR option two was discussed at least a year, it's my understanding, before the Capital One -- there were any discussions with Capital One.  So however that worked, that is not related to the Capital One case, to my understanding.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Can we move on?



MS. CATLER:  Yes, sir.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Thank you.



BY MS. CATLER:


Q
In your response to APW/USPS-T3-2, you were asked about the effect of PARS.  You were asked, "will PARS affect the processing method and/or cost of returning undeliverable as addressed mail; and, if so, please describe PARS, provide as much detail in the implementation that is now available, explain how PARS looks at the processing method and the costs of returning UAA mail."  Your response was "that I expect PARS will have no impact on the cost of returning UAA mail in the test year."



This experiment is to last for three years.  Do you have an expectation that PARS will have an impact on the cost of returning UAA mail in the second and third year of this experiment?


A
PARS may well have an impact on the cost of returning UAA mail in the second or third year of this agreement.  I have not quantified that.  I don't know if the numbers would be significant at all.  But, I have not looked at that.


Q
In other words, the direction that the numbers would go would be because they would lower the benefit to the Postal Service of this program in the second and third year; is that right?


A
No, I didn't say that.  I said it would lower the cost of UAA mail.  I would think it would also lower the cost of the electronic notification.  So, for example, if both were to go down, the actual value to the Postal Service could theoretically stay the same.


Q
I'm not sure I fully understand that.  I take it that your answer would be the same with the cost of forwarding on the deliverable as addressed mail in the second and third years, that PARS would lower the value to the Postal Service of this program in the second and third year.


A
Right.  Again, I include no savings of forwarding in my testimony and PARS, based on my understanding, the DAR would actually have a larger impact on forwarding than it would on return.


Q
And why is that?


A
Well, if you look at the DAR, the hours saved are more related to forwarding than they are to anything related to returns.


Q
Mr. Crum, the purpose of your testimony was to quantify the net benefits of the negotiated service agreement to the Postal Service; is that true?


A
Yes.


Q
And you divided the net benefits into three main categories and then added them together, is that correct?


A
Yes.


Q
Of these three categories, the cost savings from conversion to the address correction services projected to save the Postal Service $13.1 million; is that correct?


A
Yes.


Q
Now, the other two categories of savings is associated with the block discounts being offered in this NSA; correct?


A
Well, yes.  The other two options are the leakage for the discounts provided to Capital One and the new increased contribution from the new mail volume expected to be achieved because of those discounts.


Q
Okay.  So, the first is the loss of revenues to the Postal Service due to the discounts, which is equal to $6.7 million in the test year, in your testimony; is that correct?


A
Yes.


Q
And the second is the increased contribution to the institutional cost of the Postal Service from the additional mail volume generated after rates, and that amount totals to $1.8 million; is that right?


A
Yes.


Q
So, the discounts analyzed alone costs the Postal Service $4.9 million, based on your calculations?


A
Based on the numbers in my testimony, yes.


Q
Now, in doing your revenue and cost savings analysis, I do not see any additional cost savings associated with cost avoided by the Postal Service for simply increasing the volume enough to move from one block of discounts to the next.  The size of these discounts are not related to processing or transportation costs avoided by the Postal Service, are they?


A
I'm sorry, could you just rephrase that?  I kind of lost track exactly what you were saying.


Q
Okay.  The discounts --


A
Right.


Q
-- they're not related to any savings, any costs avoided by the Postal Service, any processing costs or any transportation costs avoided by the Postal Service, are they?


A
If you're trying to compare this to, for example, like work sharing, where if someone pre-sorts and they save two cents and you give them a discount for two cents, if that's how you mean your question, yes, you're correct, they're not related directly in that way.  It's part of the overall agreement.


Q
Now, the additional institutional costs contribution of $1.8 million does not assume any shift from standard mail to first-class mail, does it?


A
That's correct.


Q
What happens to the revenue the Postal Service and its institutional cost contribution, if, in addition to the new first-class mail volume, there's a switch of some standard mail volume to first-class mail volume?


A
If an addition to the -- I think the number I have listed here is 15.458969, knowing the new volume, there's additional switching from standard to first class.  That would have additional contributions for the Postal Service.


Q
So, that would be positive contribution to the institutional --


A
Yes.


Q
-- cost contribution?


A
Yes.


Q
In your response to OCA/USPS-T3-18(f), you make a clarification there, that you are referring to the cost of ACS above the cost of standard forwarding.  To clarify, the cost of standard forwarding is not part of your calculations, is it?


A
That's correct.


Q
It's not a cost, because Capital One's mail will be forwarded both before and after the NSA takes effect; correct?


A
Right.  Capital One's mail will be forwarded both before and after the NSA, yes.


Q
Although it is your belief that Capital One's forwarding rate will be reduced should the NSA take effect, because there will no longer be repeat forwarding for it; is that correct?


A
I didn't say there may not be no repeat forwarding; but, certainly, the first part of your statement I agree with, yes, that there will be less.  The forwarding rate should go down.  But, again, I have not included any of those things.


Q
Okay.  Can you tell me what the average rate of repeat forward is for the first-class mail stream, as a whole?


A
I don't know that number.


Q
There will be an additional cost to the Postal Service for customers, who change from CSR option one to CSR option two.  That will be the difference between the cost of forwarding their mail compared to the cost of destroying their mail, will it not?


A
The cost of forwarding mail is higher than the cost of wasting mail, yes.


Q
Okay.  Have you done any calculations to estimate the additional cost to the Postal Service of forwarding rather than destroying that mail?


A
I have not done any of that analysis.


Q
To your knowledge, has such an analysis been done?


A
I believe NLR-J-69, there are costs of waste and costs of forwarding.  That's my only understanding of any analysis that has been done.


Q
In fiscal year 2003, the Postal Service is expected to begin implementing a new system for redirecting undeliverable as addressed mail, called PARS; is that correct?


A
Yes.


Q
PARS is expected to reduce the cost to the Postal Service of handling undeliverable as addressed mail, is it not?


A
Yes, that's the goal of PARS.


Q
You did not include any of those cost savings in your calculations, did you?


A
No, I did not.


Q
If PARS was fully functional now, would you expect that to reduce the cost to the Postal Service of handling Capital One's UAA mail and thus reduce the $18.1 million net benefit, that it's derived from the address correction part of this NSA?


A
Could you go through the wording exactly, again?  I want to make sure I understand exactly what you're saying.


Q
If PARS was fully functional now --


A
Right.  You're saying, if phase one and phase two were already in operation as of today?


Q
Right.  Would that reduce the $18.1 million net benefit that's derived from the address correction part of this negotiated service agreement?


A
That's possible, but I can't say for sure.  But, it's certainly possible.  And this gets back to a point I tried to make before, that while we would expect that would lower the 63 cents, the cost of the physical return, it would likely also lower the 33 cents, also, to some amount.  Now whether those two would match, I can't say.  But, that's the only reason I'm not giving you a definitive yes, that would lower that.


Q
All right.  But, if assuming that PARS lowers the cost of forwarding and returning mail, then avoiding forwarding and returning mail has less value to the Postal Service, doesn't it?


A
Yes, in general.  The only difference is the electronic notification now costs, you know, a round number 33 cents.  That number would also likely go down somewhat through PARS.  So while the 63 cent number of the return would likely go down, the 33 cent number would likely go down some, also.  I have not quantified this.  I don't know how much.  But, if you're talking a basic directional, I would expect both of those to go down somewhat.  I don't know by exactly what rate.  I don't know by what rate at all, actually.


Q
But, in any case, the net savings from this part of the agreement is a temporary savings applicable just to the first year or two of the agreement.


A
Well, again, we did a -- my analysis was in the test year.  So, I'm very comfortable with the numbers in the test year.  Beyond that, it would require a different analysis.


Q
And there is no testimony in this case that talks about the second and third year of this agreement, is that right?


A
That's true.


Q
Of the cost savings?


A
Yes.



MS. CATLER:  Thank you, very much.  I have no further questions, at this time.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Thank you.  Mr. Baker?



MR. BAKER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.



BY MR. BAKER:


Q
Mr. Crum, I'm Bill Baker appearing today on behalf of the Newspaper Association of America.  I thought that you were involved, sir, were you not, in the process of negotiating this NSA?


A
I was not one of what you would call a negotiator.  There were a number of large group meetings of which I was a participant.  But, I was not a negotiator.


Q
Did you do cost saving analysis to support the negotiators?


A
Yes.  Our department did some costing support for the negotiators.


Q
I think that was the format of your testimony today?


A
Yes.  I mean, different pieces came together.  My testimony was the final result of everything.


Q
You reviewed that essentially the volume discounts in the NSA are negative, the net for cost customers, and the volume discounts net out to be negative, correct?


A
Yes, as presented in my testimony.


Q
And you do not provide an estimate for years two and three of the NSA, is that correct?


A
That's correct.


Q
Okay.  And so for this NSA to work out as the Postal Service plans, they would have to get the cost savings that you talked earlier about, $13.1 million; is that correct?


A
Once again, certainly, the Postal Service is certainly counting on savings from address -- to address correction.  It certainly wouldn't make sense, if we were to have only the discounts in isolation.


Q
So, the Postal Service has to be pretty comfortable that your calculation of the cost estimate be correct, that the cost savings be right?


A
Yes.


Q
From avoiding returns and some of the other features, again, that they worked out, because of the amount of money you calculated; is that correct?


A
Well, I would say, yes, with a caveat.  For example, if it was shown to be 13.2 or 13.0 million, I don't think the Postal Service would be totally concerned about that.  But if it were to be a dramatic difference, yes, that would be a concern.


Q
Now, your calculations do not include certain kind of costs that we asked you a series of questions about.  First of all, your testimony does not attempt to include the cost to the Postal Service, including negotiating the NSA; is that correct?


A
That's correct.  My understanding is that those were institutional costs and it was part of the preparation for any filing the Postal Service may have.


Q
Did you ever have occasion to try to calculate the manual feeder service cost?


A
No.


Q
So, you don't know?


A
I didn't calculate those.  As was listed in my response, a number of complications involved.  We were not even tasked to do that?


Q
Nor, of course, you do not include the cost to the Postal Service of implementing or monitoring the NSA; is that correct?


A
That's correct.


Q
You expect it will incur some cost to do it, though?


A
Implementing and monitoring, could you describe exactly what you mean by that question?


Q
Well, I mean, with NSA, Capital One is required to do certain things and the Postal Service is going to be monitoring and attempting to verify certain things it does, my understanding.  Is that your understanding, as well?


A
Yes.  I mean, the Postal Service has -- you know, it's not really a trust thing.  It's a trust and verify, and there will be some effort made to ensure that those activities take place.  I have not analyzed the cost associated with those.


Q
You did not analyze the verifying part, cost for verifying; is that right?


A
Right.


Q
And you did not calculate the possible additional revenue decrease that might occur, if the alternative discount structure kicks in, if year one volumes were below the special; is that correct?


A
I did not analyze any of the alternative discount stuff.


Q
And you did not, as I believe counsel has already covered, you do not -- you assumed that there will be no system of mail from standard to first class; is that correct?


A
Exactly.


Q
Okay.  And I understand, you touched on previously that the institutional costs per piece -- institutional cost for first class is higher than in standard.  What's the figure for the standard mail contribution?


A
I don't remember that off the top of my head.  To get to that, you could look at it a variety of different ways.  You could look at overall and standard.  That's probably not the most appropriate way.  You would probably want to break that out by the shape of the mail.  For example, the contribution of standard mail letters, the contribution of standard mail flat.  So, you'd probably want to look at it in a little more detail, to get the overall contribution of first class versus standard.


Q
Well, if you wanted to get a sense of what the net benefit to the Postal Service is, from a mail piece of standard to first class, you would maybe quantify it with the contribution for letters, the standard regular mail; is that correct?


A
Yes, that's where you'd want to start.


Q
The question we asked to Ms. Bizzoto, we asked about what she thought the cost would be based on.  She stated, and this is a response to our question, NAA number seven, to her, and I'll read her quote, "I believe that any rate or classification proposal, including negotiated service agreements such as the Capital One agreement, should be developed using the best data available, including the Postal Service's understanding of its characteristics and requirements of specific knowledge."  Have you seen that passage before?


A
Yes, I've read that.


Q
Okay.  Do you agree with her?


A
Exactly which passage are you talking about, again?


Q
The statement that the rate, classification, the NSA for Capital One should be developed using the best data available, including the Postal Service's understanding of its characteristics and requirements of specific knowledge.  And I'm focusing on the best data available language, the characteristics and requirements of specific knowledge.


A
Well, certainly, yes, the best data available to be used.


Q
When you were first asked to do costing work in support of the NSA and various customers, were you asked to prepare a cost specifically for Capital One?


A
Boy, I don't remember exactly the wording of what I was asked.  I mean, I don't remember exactly what I was asked.


Q
Were you told to use the national average as a proxy for Capital One cost?


A
No, I was not told to use a national average.  Basically, I was asked to come up with an estimated cost.  If a Capital One specific number, which related well to the national average, it could have been easily bound and that would have been done.  As it stood, this was the approach we took.


Q
Did you consider trying to develop a model for the cost of returning and forwarding Capital One mail?


A
I would say that thought passed through my head.  I can't say that I considered it by starting to do that.  There were a number of problems, if we would start to go down that road.  So, I did not go down that road.


Q
Approximately how much time did you have to prepare your cost analysis?


A
Wow, that's an interesting question.  I could probably interpret that a number of different ways.  The preparation and negotiation phases with Capital One went on for quite a bit.  The actual testimony, preparation, prepare my testimony phase was pretty short.  That might range from several months, to a couple of weeks.


Q
So, you're possibly being about a couple of weeks?


A
Yes.


Q
Okay.  So, the preparation and negotiation phase is still in the course?


A
Uh-huh.


Q
So, instead of developing a specific Capital One cost, what you did was look at average cost, including places you decided either to use the average cost, or make that certain adjustment, and I'm going to go through some of these.  But, your basic approach is to start with the average cost and consider whether you want to make an adjustment or not, is that correct?


A
Yes.  The basic approach starts off with the average cost and then makes various adjustments to more closely align that with our best guess of Capital One.


Q
Would you turn to your response regarding inquiry number 2, question 7, please?  Now, that's a lengthy response, so feel free to take a moment or two to look it over.



(Witness reviews document.)



THE WITNESS:  All right.  I'm done.



BY MR. BAKER:


Q
On page two of your response there, you were calculating a cost to providing electronic notice for Capital One forward.  Do you see that?


A
Yes.


Q
Okay.  Almost smack dab in the middle, you have an equation, the second factor of which is 0.0667.


A
Yes.


Q
And what exactly is that?  And you may want to look at OCA 27, to help illustrate your answer to that.


A
Note the 2.6 cents is the cost estimate of putting on mechanized terminals.


Q
And that's an additional feature, the cost of the additional feature?


A
That's the estimate of the cost --


Q
Okay.


A
-- as listed in LRJ-69.


Q
Okay.  And in OCA-27, you say that that's the right cost to use here; is that correct?


A
Well, again, the information as contained in POI-R2, question seven was done in our response and not part of my testimony.  I tried to make clear subtly that we were asked to do an analysis.  We did not include that in my testimony, because I didn't believe there was solid support of a number.  But, we were asked to do something, so we tried to do our best.  So, with that caveat, we tried to put in our best guess of numbers there.


Q
You just made a statement about not solidly supportable numbers.  Could you list what numbers you felt were not solidly supportable enough to be used?


A
Well, we did not include any savings -- I did not include any savings from forwarding in my testimony.  For example, the calculations in POI-R2, question seven, many of them are open to interpretation and disagreement and, you know, in my personal case, if you can't come up with a certain level of certainty, that it's best left out of your testimony.


Q
In OCA 27, you said, "well, given the choice between 0.66 cents and 0.997 cents, you think 0.66 is the better number, because that's the next cost associated with mechanized terminals."


A
Probably that's the better choice, yes.


Q
And in doing so, can you confirm that in this particular instance, you are not assuming that Cap One has the same case as the entire first-class mail?


A
The .066 is based on the mechanized terminals, yes.


Q
And then you're speaking to your .66 cents.  Some non-zero media cost can be associated with transferring the new address data to Capital One, is that correct?


A
I'm sorry, could you repeat that?


Q
There is a non-zero cost associated with actually transferring --


A
If you're talking about specifically electronic transmitting, yes.


Q
Yes, okay.  And you have not quantified that, but you believe it to be small?


A
Yes.  I believe that to be small, but I have not quantified it; that's correct.


Q
Can you turn to your response to POI-R2, number seven?


A
Yes.


Q
On the middle of page three, you were calculating an estimate of the maximum number of Capital One pieces that could be forwarded in the test year, is that correct?


A
We're trying to estimate a range.


Q
Okay.  And in the middle paragraph on page three, you have a formula we've looked at once, that, basically, the elements are -- page two, I'm sorry, page two, on the second paragraph, you take the total number of Cap One's reputations and you multiply that by an average forwarding rate of first-class mail, while you -- about CSS; is that correct?


A
Yes.


Q
Okay.  And that worked out to 12,794,000 pieces?


A
Yes.


Q
Now, I notice that yesterday, the presiding officer asked some questions about that.  I assume you're not expecting to answer those today, is that correct?


A
That's correct.  I'm not going to be answering them today.


Q
I just thought I'd ask.  But, I do have a couple of questions I will ask you about that.


A
Okay.


Q
The 1.96 number, that's the average forwarding rate for all first-class mail, correct, derived from the average forwarding rate for all first class?


A
That's the LRJ-69 answer, the average forwarding rate of all first-class mail.


Q
And you relied on that, on the basis of Mr. Wilson's testimony, in response to a question that was posed to him; is that correct?


A
Yes.  I mean, that's the -- again, we don't know what the forwarding rate is for Capital One.  We really didn't know what to do.  We were asked to do an analysis here.  So, based on Mr. Wilson's response, that's the number that we are putting here.


Q
Okay.  When you produced that 12 million and change number there, did you have happen to run a sanity check and say, gee, does that make sense, does that number going to be in the right ballpark, or did you just go on from there?


A
I can't say I stepped back, because I decided -- I usually do that, but there didn't seem to be anything in my head or any of the people I was talking to that we could easily compare that to some logical benchmark and say, well, does that seem reasonable.  So, that's a typical thing that I do and most analysts do.  But, in this case, neither I nor the people I spoke with about this had a particular benchmark they could compare that to.


Q
Well, let me ask you a question here.  In the use of the average forwarding rate for first-class mail, which produces 1.96, would you agree that the use of that number makes no distinction between the accuracy of missed solicitations and customer account mail?


A
Well, I mean, the 768 million that's in the calculation we're referring to is the solicitation mail.


Q
Now, you multiply the solicitation volume by the average forwarding rate for all first-class mail; is that correct?


A
That's correct.


Q
Do you think that Cap One's solicitations mail has the same as all first-class mail?


A
I don't know the answer to that question.  I can refer you to what Mr. Wilson's response and I'm sure he would be glad to follow up on that.


Q
Okay, all right.  I think that you may not have any kind of knowledge to that.  Would you agree that that is implicit in the use of the average factor at all?


A
Let me just make sure -- I'm not quite sure what you said.  I think I would agree with that.


Q
That it is implicit in the use of the average forwarding rate and the calculations here, that Cap One's solicitations mail has the same forwarding rate as average first-class mail?


A
Yes, that's implicit, and not implicit is capacities and UAA, et cetera.



MR. MAY:  Mr. Chairman, that was not the question that was previously asked.  The previous question was whether or not implicit is that Capital One has the same accuracy rate as all first-class mail.  When it was restated, and let the record be clear, that the witness responded that, yes, even implicitness that, first, Capital One had the same forwarding rate, not the same accuracy rate, same forwarding rate.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Mr. Baker?



MR. BAKER:  Thank you, Mr. May.



BY MR. BAKER:


Q
If you found if something were wrong and that if Cap One's solicitations mail is forwarding at a higher rate than the first-class mail average, the tendency there would be to increase the forwarded volume over the 12 million; correct?


A
Yes.


Q
Okay.  And in particular you calculate the number 5.6.  Do you see that?


A
Yes.


Q
That number represents the number of pieces that are mailed to a specific delivery point in a year?


A
All that number is is taking the test year estimate of solicitations and dividing it by the Postal Service domestic delivery points in 2001.


Q
And what is the purpose of that calculation?


A
Well, just to try to get our hands around this very complicated question.  The one that we thought was so complicated to not even include it in my testimony.



We kind of had to get some kind of base line to move forward from and that's what we're trying to do.  Just saying like what if they mailed to every delivery point?  That's still 5.6 solicitation pieces to every domestic delivery point.  We're just trying to get some solid number to move forward from.



Certainly we don't know that Capital One mails to every domestic delivery point.  I would seriously doubt that they do, but we had to try to make some calculation to respond to their request.


Q
This would be the smallest number that you could get for Capital One's solicitation mailings, isn't it?


A
Yes.


Q
And do you believe that that leads you to a conservative calculation of cost savings?


A
That would lead to a conservative calculation of cost savings afforded, yes.


Q
5.6 pieces per year is less than one piece every two months, is that correct?


A
Well, without getting into one of the many complications, if you assume equal distribution across the year, which again I have no basis really to make that assumption or not other than we wouldn't know what else to do, yes.


Q
If we're prepared to assume that Capital One is mailing to every delivery point less than once every two months, does it follow that there shouldn't be any repeat forwards for Capital One given that they update their address lists against the NCOA list every 60 days?


A
Right.  I think there's been some confusion here.  Let me try to explain this a little bit.



Certainly Witness Wilson can get into this a lot more and we will also get into this to POIR-3.  But, I don't know if you have a copy of Witness Wilson's response to  APWU-8 where she describes the difference between NCS and the NCOA.  If someone has a copy I can kind of read through it.



One of the key points here is that NCOA is a strict match system.  The way it was explained to me and the way it made sense to me is if you think of your freshman college computer class when you're first writing your computer program, every character has to match exactly.  So if that character doesn't match exactly under NCOA, then NCOA will not catch it.



For example, if I filled out a mailing address and said my name was Charles L. Crum and that's what it said on the NCOA and someone mailed me something to C.L. Crum, NCOA will not catch that.  It will just go through.



Now when it gets down to the carrier, when it goes to the CFS unit there's a human being there.  A human being can certainly tell that C.L. Crum at 125 Jones Street is the same as Charles L. Crum at 125 Jones Street, but the NCOA database because it's a strict match system, it can't do that.



Again, Witness Wilson can explain in much more detail exactly how this works and why that's different, but as it was explained to me, that's the simplest way to think of it.  It's a strict match.  Certainly there are a lot of pieces that will be mailed Charles L. Crum and NCOA  would catch those pieces, but if it's not Charles L. Crum, NCOA is not going to catch it and the only way Capital One's going to know when they're mailing to C.L. Crum because it's not going to be caught on NCOAs, at the end of the year they're going to get a return piece saying this forwarding order has expired and they haven't even known for the whole year, they've been sending to C.L. Crum, they figure he's getting them.  They're not getting anything back.  They think the whole process is working great. 



So I think that probably gets to the confusion that's been kind of underlying a number of the questions out there.



Therefore a mailer, back to your specific question, a mailer can run NCOA and there's still a number of addresses that are not going to be caught by NCOA because of the technical aspects of how the NCOA system works.


Q
If we can think about one of these pieces that passes the NCOA test --


A
What do you mean by passes?  Like NCOA catches it?


Q
NCOA does not catch it as a bad --


A
Okay, as an address in need of forwarding.


Q
Yes.



C.L. Crum instead of Charles L. Crum.


A
Right.


Q
If we follow that piece through processing and delivery, where does that get caught?


A
Again, if you go back to Witness Wilson's response, the carrier determines I guess that the addressee has moved so I guess that gets caught by the carrier.



Again, I'm about at the end of my understanding of address management. Witness Wilson I'm sure can do a great deal in explaining this, but that's my understanding according to his response to APWU-T4-8, that is caught by the carrier.


Q
And then it goes to the computerized forwarding center?


A
Yes.


Q
Would the carrier endorse anything on that piece?


A
I'm not sure exactly how that communication takes place.


Q
At the computerized forwarding center, the clerk would punch in a certain number of letters of the last name and a certain number of digits of the street address, is that correct?


A
Again, I'm not sure exactly how that works either.



Witness Wilson can explain that in I'm sure as much detail as you all would require.


Q
Let's get back to your use of the 5.6 pieces per year.


A
Okay.


Q
Again, if that number is averaging out to less than one piece every 60 days, there aren't going to be any repeat forwards, correct?


A
Oh, yes -- Are you talking about before introduction of the NSA or after?



Before interdiction of the NSA there would continue to be repeat forwards until Capital One through some kind of external means of getting a different address list -- Again, I don't understand exactly how they decide who to mail to, but through some external means they could find out.  The only other way they would find out is at the end of the year they get a piece back saying forwarding order expired.  Those are the only two ways they would find out for the C.L. Crum example.



For the C.L. Crum example, there wouldn't continue to be repeat forwards if it's not for the full year until there's a forwarding order expired unless it's caught by some external means.  So there would still be, there would be repeat forwards unless one of those two things happened.


Q
If we could go farther through your calculations in your response to the POIR, you calculate a number of delivery points that require forwarding, is that correct?


A
That's right.  We try to estimate that.


Q
That's the $2,293,782?


A
Yes.


Q
In producing that number do you make use of the 5.6 pieces per year?


A
Yes.


Q
Does it follow that you are assuming that every one of these 2.3 million delivery points is of the C.L. Crum variety as opposed to the Charles L. Crum variety?


A
This gets down, it's another one of the assumptions you have to make to try to answer this question.



I believe the implicit assumption is that NCOA -- Assuming Capital One did run NCOA though it had a different number than 1.96 percent.  Capital One runs NCOA every 60 days, I believe, on the solicitations which then makes the number 1.96 percent for lack -- We don't know 1.96, but for lack of any other information we assume 1.96 percent.  



So the 1.96 percent assumes that the NCOA has been run every 60 days and it caught those pieces.



Now that's, as you can probably figure out that's an imperfect assumption as well.  But that's to create a calculation what we're asked to do. You have to make an assumption like that.  That's what we did.  We assumed that the pieces that could have been caught by NCOA were caught and that's what made the number 1.96 percent.



So to answer your question you originally asked, yes, I think.  We're assuming all those are of the C.L. Crum variety.


Q
Under the NSA, the forwarding information will be transmitted back to Capital One at the first instance of the forward.  Correct?


A
Yes.


Q
And you are assuming that Capital One will then correct its address list within two business days.  Is that correct?


A
It's my understanding, and I think that was talked about this morning.  I wasn't here for much of the discussion this morning, that Capital One takes our information in two days or something like that.  Yes.  I'm assuming that they take the forwarding information data and update their mailing list and know that the person they're mailing to, that they don't live at their old address any more, that they've moved to a new address and it would make sense for them to mail that solicitation to them at the new address and not the old address.  So I'm assuming that yes, they update their database.


Q
The information that is sent back in the electronic notification of forwarding, is that derived from NCOA?


A
No.  My understanding is that's derived from the ACS system.  I go back to Witness Wilson's response.  



MS. McKENZIE:  For the record, Mr. Crum, could you say which response you're referring to?



THE WITNESS:  Witness Wilson's response to 

APWU-T4-8.



Yeah, that's through the ACS system.



I'm sorry, maybe I didn't understand your question.



BY MR. COSTICH:


Q
Have you ever received a forwarded piece or seen a forwarded piece?


A
Yes.


Q
Did it have a yellow address label on it?


A
In most all the instances, yes.


Q
And did that label have printed on it somewhere, probably close to the very top, the first four letters of your last name and the first three digits of your address?


A
I don't remember.


Q
But what you are saying is that when a clerk in the computerized forwarding unit keys in something it generates one of these address labels, is that correct?


A
Again, the technical details related to exactly how and where the forwarding address labels are generated, that's better asked of Jim Wilson.



I guess what I'm saying is that my understanding is that Capital One, when ACS catches it and Capital One is notified, they are notified that the address they sent to, the person they were sending to has moved to a new address and they're being provided a new address.  Not just a name and three digits, but a new address.  That's my understanding and that's what my calculations are based on.


Q
Do you know how the NCOA database is generated?


A
Other than what's listed in the response to -- Other than Witness Wilson's response that I referred to before and other than to know that's when -- When individuals fill out their "I'm moving" form, that generally supplies that information to the NCOA database.  Beyond that, I don't know, but that's my understanding.


Q
I guess what's troubling me is if I fill out a change of address form, that information goes into the NCOA database.  What is this ACS database and how does it get the same information?


A
Again you're going to have to talk to Jim Wilson about that.  Fortunately he's after me, so I'm not punting you to someone who's already appeared.


Q
The NCOA filed some interrogatories directed to you on the 27th of November.  Have you seen those?


A
Are these 26 and 27, or 28 through 30?


Q
Twenty-eight through 30.


A
Yes, I have seen those.


Q
I've had some discussions with your counsel who indicated that you were prepared to answer a few of the subparts of those interrogatories.  Is that your understanding?


A
Yes.  A number of these subparts will be redirected.  Several of them I will be answering.  So I'd be glad to try to answer the ones that I wouldn't be redirecting to another witness.


Q
If you can look at T3-28, are you prepared to respond to Part A?


A
Yes, on T3-28 I'm prepared to respond to A and C, and B and D will be redirected.


Q
Okay.  Part A asks you to confirm that if you are going to assume that Capital One mails to every domestic delivery point, then necessarily you are also assuming that Capital One is mailing to every domestic delivery point that has a forwarding order in effect.  Would you agree with that?


A
To be honest, I don't fully exactly understand what you're asking there.  I had a response crafted, but it's -- To be honest, I don't understand exactly what you're trying to get at there.



Could you rephrase that?


Q
I think it's the question as stated, it's just a matter almost of pure logic or set theory, if you will.  The number of domestic delivery points that has a forwarding order in effect is a subset of the total number of domestic delivery points, correct?


A
Yes.


Q
So if you're going to assume that Capital One mails to every domestic delivery point, then necessarily it's mailing to every member of that subset, domestic delivery points with a forwarding order in effect.


A
Right.  You're just saying that the smaller one, the other one is a -- the smaller one is a subset of the larger one. Yes, I can agree to that.


Q
Okay.


A
Just to make it clear, I'm not assuming -- The assumption about every domestic delivery point does not mean I believe Capital One mails to every domestic delivery point.  That was just for ease of, to try to present a number such that people could see the response.


Q
I understand that.  But if you're going to make that assumption it seems that you have to also stick with any subsidiary or logical extension to that assumption.



The point being that if we get an answer to sub-part D, we're going to get a much higher number than your 12 million or two million.  Would you agree with that?


A
Now you're talking about the total number of forwarding orders.  That's for everybody, right?  How many forwarding orders were in effect at any time during fiscal year 2000, 2001 and 2002?  That's total forwarding orders for the entire country moving, not just the individuals Capital One is mailing to.  I'd have to think more about that one.  I don't know.



I'm still confused over your question in A, I'm sorry.  I know you said it was a subset but I still don't understand exactly what you're trying to get at there.


Q
Well, is it possible to have more than one forwarding order in effect for the same delivery point?


A
That would mean that the person moved during the year.  Certainly.  People move more often than every year.  That can happen.  I wouldn't expect that to be the typical example but I certainly think that does happen.  It certainly does happen.


Q
If we can focus on a single delivery point, and let's assume it's a house that's been rented by several friends and over the course of the year they move out one at a time but they fill out a change of address form and give it to the Postal Service.


A
Okay.


Q
That would generate several forwarding orders for one delivery point, correct?


A
Yes.  That's exactly correct.


Q
What we would really need is the number of -- No, it's still the right question. Every delivery point with a forwarding order in effect during the year.  Under your assumption that Capital One is mailing to every delivery point then it necessarily follows they're mailing to every delivery point with a forwarding order in effect.  That's just a matter of logic regardless of where I may be trying to go with it.  Can we agree on that?


A
Okay.



MS. McKENZIE:  I believe Mr. Crum is ready to answer Part C of that.



BY MR. COSTICH:  


Q
All right.  Let's move on to Part C which asks how many domestic residential delivery points were there in fiscal years 2000, 2001, 2002.


A
I should have caveated, I don't have the 2002 numbers, but for 2000 and 2001 per the Postal Service annual report in 2001 there were 123,889 429 domestic residential delivery points in 2000 and 125,406 149 in 2001.



MS. McKENZIE:  Mr. Crum, do you have your units correct?  You said 126,000 --



THE WITNESS:  123,889,429 and 125,406,149. Sorry.  No, I did not have my descriptions correct.



BY MR. COSTICH:  


Q
So that's most of the total number of domestic delivery points, correct?


A
Correct.


Q
I believe you were prepared to respond to some parts of Interrogatory No. 30, is that correct?


A
Yes.


Q
Question 30 asks you, Part A asks you to confirm that the end result of your calculations is that there are between 10.5 million and 2.2 million repeat forwards.  Is that correct?



MS. McKENZIE:  Excuse me, Mr. Chairman.  It's not really an objection, but I would ask counsel from OCA to repeat the question in full so that the record is clear.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Mr. Costich?



MR. COSTICH:  Certainly.



BY MR. COSTICH:  


Q
You were asked to refer to Question 7 of POIR No. 2.  Then the question states, "Your estimate of costs avoided appears to assume the avoidance of between 10.5 million and 2.2 million forwards."  Part A asks, "Is this correct?"


A
My response to that was first, I make no specific estimate of costs avoided.  As I tried to explain earlier we responded to POIR-2 Question 7 because we were asked to do it.  That does not mean we are making a cost estimate of the avoided costs due to forwarding.  There are too many assumptions in there to have a solid analysis but we were asked to do that. Therefore I provided a range of likely things.



I also wrote down, "Please refer to my response OCA-T3-16D."



That reads, "While I was aware of these potential savings it was decided not to include them because there were simply too many unknowns to develop a solid supportable cost or cost savings point estimate.  These unknowns include the forwarding ratio of Capital One and the average number of solicitations per address that Capital One mails to in any given year.  As my response to POIR No. 2 Question 7 indicates, it is highly likely that the electronic address correction notices for forwarded mail will yield additional savings for the Postal Service and in a qualitative sense that should make parties more comfortable regarding the value of the NSA to the Postal Service.  But since the savings cannot be readily quantified I felt that the conservative approach should be taken.  Given that, your statement appears reasonable."


Q
I understand that Question 7 posed a difficult question, but what I'm hearing you say is that the numbers that you're coming up with are mushy.  Is that fair?


A
I'm not sure exactly how you define mushy.  The decision was made not to include forwarding savings because we didn't think we could come up with rate case supportable solid numbers, numbers that I would be comfortable testifying to.  Therefore, we did not include them.



So in response to POIR-2, Question 7, we had to answer that.  I tried to come up with a range, tried to list some of the likely scenarios of how the numbers would work out, but not making a forwarding savings estimate.  There are too many complications involved.  There are a number we've talked about, a number we haven't, I'm sure a number that you've thought about that we haven't even thought about.  But the point is we're not making a cost savings estimate for forwarding.


Q
Do you have an answer for Part D?



MS. McKENZIE:  For the record, could you repeat Part D?



MR. COSTICH:  Yes, I will.  I just want to make sure the witness has an answer for that part.



THE WITNESS:  Yes, I wrote confirmed.  It's actually I guess just under 365 and a quarter days in the currently used Gregorian calendar.



BY MR. COSTICH:  


Q
The question was, "Please confirm that there are approximately six 60-day periods in a calendar year."


A
Yes.  Confirmed.


Q
An easy question for once.



Are you prepared to respond to Part K?


A
Yes.


Q
That question is, "Please confirm that the provision of free electronic notification of forwarding to a mailer that updates its addresses with NCOA is of virtually no additional value to the Postal Service because it prevents virtually no repeat forwards."


A
My answer to that is "Not confirmed.  NCOA is not a perfect system but a good effort to get address updates in a simple, efficient manner.



"There appears to be misunderstanding of at least one aspect of the relationship between NCOA matching and move updates.  NCOA is an exact match system and only catches some moves.  Please refer to Witness Wilson's response to APWU/USPS-T4-8.



"For example, if John A. Smith fills out a change of address form and a piece is run through NCOA listing the addressee as John A. Smith, then the piece will probably be caught.  If it says J.A. Smith or J. Smith, et cetera, the piece will not be caught.  



"When forwarding information is provided through ACS a completely different process occurs.  Similar names are likely caught in that case and the mailer will receive the corrected address and avoid repeated forwards."



MR. COSTICH:  Thank you.



I have no further questions, Mr. Chairman.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Thank you, Mr. Costich.



Is there any other party who would like to cross-examine the witness?



MR. WARDEN:  Irving Warden representing the American Bankers Association.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Proceed.


CROSS-EXAMINATION



BY MR. WARDEN:  


Q
Mr. Crum, I want to make sure I understand what you've said in response to the various counsel today on the issue of the cost on returned and forwarded mail.



These costs that you gave in response to the OCA interrogatory No. 7 to you, and ABA Interrogatory No. 1, these costs are based on the library reference J-69,right?


A
Yes.


Q
So your --


A
Excuse me.  As adjusted.  LRJ-69, for example, has a return savings of 63 cents.  I lowered that based on the adjustments to get it down to about 53 cents.  It's not directly from J-69, although it's based on J-69.


Q
And I believe there's a small difference also in the forwarding costs, right?


A
Yes.  Actually I had not presented the exact forwarding costs. That would lower it by two-tenths of a cent if you were to make an adjustment for Capital One.  The numbers presented were just the average forwarding costs.


Q
So the cost in that library reference that you use, was that from R-2001?


A
I believe that was in both -- Yes.  The LRJ-69 was from R-2001.


Q
So those costs would be for first class, work shared first class letter mail generally.


A
I'd have to check the source.  It's certainly not just work shared.  It would be first class.



Let me check the library reference.



(Pause)


A
That's based on Table 512 which is the annual cost for UAA mail being returned to sender due to COA orders and invalid addresses.


Q
Okay.


A
So I assume that would be all first class mail.


Q
And then when we have your discussion later, your response to POIR-2, Question 7 I believe it is, was on forwarding numbers.  As I understand it what you're saying is as far as cost savings you didn't feel those numbers were solid enough to present in your testimony.


A
Exactly.


Q
What about the forwarding cost savings?  Did you relate those to, did those fall in the same category?  That's where I kind of lost track here, the difference between the forwarding cost and the savings, the return costs.  How about the return cost savings?  Is that something you felt more confident about?


A
The return costs there were less unknowns and we could count on specific numbers.  For example, we could count on Capital One to provide an estimate of their returns that we found reasonable.  We really have no estimate of Capital One's forwarding percentage.  They didn't know what that is.  Our address management witness made an assumption but he certainly doesn't know what the forwarding ratio is for Capital One.


Q
So make sure I understand it then. Where do we go in our testimony to find the return cost savings?  As opposed to the returned costs.


A
That can be found a number of places.  The easiest is probably Attachment A, Page 2.



If you look at the chart in the upper left-hand corner, well there are any number of places you can take this, but it's a manual returned unit cost, electronic returns unit cost.  The numbers are 53.5 cents and 33.2 cents.



On a unit basis those are the returned cost savings.  They have to be adjusted by other factors like the 85 percent, et cetera.


Q
So those costs would be not adjusted for Capital One's situation but would be general first class return costs.


A
Those took the average, and we made a number of adjustments to try to match Capital One as best we could.


Q
So those are adjusted for Capital One.


A
Not specifically adjusted to Capital One, but we made a number of adjustments to try to estimate Capital One as best as possible.


Q
And in your response to one of the counsel, maybe counsel's question, was the issue of the discounts were not related directly to cost savings.  I believe you responded that this was part of a negotiated deal.



You weren't saying there weren't cost savings, you're just saying that wasn't calculated based on the cost savings.  The discounts --


A
Exactly.  I'm definitely not saying there are not cost savings.  I very definitely believe there are cost savings.  I just said that the discounts are not directly related to the cost savings.


Q
And the cost savings occur -- Is it an over-simplification to say the cost savings occur every time the Postal Service does not have to return or forward a piece of mail?


A
Yes. Simply stated that's basically it.  Although we don't include any savings from forwarding, so the savings listed in my testimony occur when the Postal Service does not have to return a piece of mail that they would normally have returned based on the rules of first class mail.



MR. WARDEN:  Thank you.  I have no further questions.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Thank you, Mr. Warden.



Is there anyone else who would like to cross-examine the witness?



(No response)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Are there any questions from the bench?  Mr. Covington?



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Thank you, Chairman Omas.



Good afternoon, Witness Crum.  I had a couple of short questions for you.



First of all we were noticing in your testimony you stated that you were now a part of, I guess it would be the Pricing Innovation Group?



THE WITNESS:  It recently changed names to Pricing Strategy, I think.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  When did Pricing Innovation Group jell at USPS?



THE WITNESS:  I believe I started working there about the first of March 2002.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay, 2002.



THE WITNESS:  Yes, about the first of March, 2002.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  So now you're the Pricing Strategy Division of USPS.  I mean that's where you're employed.



THE WITNESS:  Yes, exactly.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Witness Crum, how familiar were you with Capital One's mailing behavior prior to this filing?  Or did you only start noticing their mailing behaviors for solicitation of return volume when the negotiating began on this classification case?



THE WITNESS:  I would say my first discussions regarding Capital One took place in January of 2002.  That would have been my first information at all related to anything to do with Capital One even as far as knowing the size, that they were a large first class mailer.  I'd certainly heard of them as a credit card company but I had no Postal Service understanding of them until January of 2002.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Okay, January of 2002.



Witness Crum, I'd like to refer you to a Postal Service response that was given APWU/USPS-2.  Are you familiar with that answer?



THE WITNESS:  No, I'm not.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  What it does is it calculates estimates of the potential financial results of the NSA in the last two years of the agreement under various assumptions.



THE WITNESS:  Oh, okay.  I believe I have read through maybe an earlier version of that.  I can't say I read through the final version, but I have seen that.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  It assumes that both volume and the cost of physical returns could change by five percent a year.  Do you recall that?  Is that a correct statement?



THE WITNESS:  I think the idea was to throw in various scenarios as far as possible changes and see how that would impact the results.  I did not craft that response, if that's what you're asking me.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Right.  As a matter of fact the volume data, I think this was information that we received from Witness Elliott, Dr. Elliott, I'm sorry, that indicated that even without volume discounts from 1999 to the year 2000, it specifically stated, Witness Crum, that Capital One's first class volume grew almost 10 percent, and it further said that from the year 2000 to 2001 it grew over 15 percent.  So bearing that in mind, do you feel that volume growth estimates for 2004 and 2005 should be higher than a rate of five percent, which I think you all are stating in that response?  If you've got 10 percent growth, 1999 to 2000 and then 15 percent growth from 2000 to 2001, why would it go back down the next year to five percent?



THE WITNESS:  I can't really speak to my -- I don't really have a forecast of Capital One's growth.  In my testimony I used what Witness Elliott, used Witness Elliott's number that I assume he spoke with Capital One about, so I don't have any personal forecast of how Capital One's volume might grow.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Is it safe to assume then if there's a growth rate higher than five percent, would the Postal Service projections in this particular case possibly underestimate that revenue leakage?



THE WITNESS:  If there is greater volume growth.  I think that would -- If there were to be greater volume in the absence of any NSA, that would create greater discount leakage, if that's your question.  Yes.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Following up on that question, it just says that that particular response also includes an assumption about savings from the PARS system.  To your knowledge would you be able to respond?  Has the Postal Service performed any cost benefit analysis regarding the PARS system?  If so, is the five percent annual reduction in cost consistent with that analysis?



THE WITNESS:  My understanding of the cost analysis that's been done related to PARS is not how it would impact Capital One costs but are more or less in the DAR, it was how many work hours would be saved.  It's a capital investment type of analysis.  I'm not aware of any analysis that would specifically say how much it would save for Capital One.  Based on my understanding, I'm not sure exactly how that would be done.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Ms. McKenzie, I'd like to ask is there any way of you letting me know or letting the Commission know if there's been any study in that regard?



MS. McKENZIE:  Commissioner Covington, are you talking about overall PARS savings?  Or something more specific.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Cost benefit analysis of the PARS system as it would relate to savings.



MS. McKENZIE:  As it would relate to Cap One savings?  Or as it would relate to specific savings?



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Capital One. 



MS. McKENZIE:  I don't think we have an analysis that I'm aware of that has done to say what are the savings anticipated in PARS and how would it affect Cap One's mail.  I can certainly check into it and see if we can develop something like that but I'm not sure if that's possible.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  If it's available I would imagine, could you possibly advise Chairman Omas when we could expect a copy of it?



MS. McKENZIE:  Yes, I'll let you know by Friday as to whether I think we can develop it or not.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  That's great.  Thank you.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  And Witness Crum, one final question.



In your professional opinion, and I think I know the answer to this, and with the testimony that you prepared in regard to this negotiated service agreement request, can you honestly advise the Commission as to whether the Postal Service is going to realize a positive financial impact by undertaking an experiment of this nature?



THE WITNESS:  In my testimony, definitely for the test year that's what I've carefully analyzed.  I certainly stand behind my numbers for savings in the test year.



While I have not looked at the out years of the agreement, it seems reasonable to me to expect a continuation of those savings, but I have not specifically analyzed those as part of my testimony.  Therefore I can't say with 100 percent certainty, yes.  Although I have no reason to say I don't think the savings would continue.  That was not part of my testimony.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Thank you Witness Crum.



That's all I have, Chairman Omas.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Commissioner Goldway?



COMMISSIONER GOLDWAY:  Yes.  I wanted to follow upon Commissioner Covington's question about the potential for what we would call any-how growth in the second and third year.  Could you present us with some figures of what the leakage would be if we assumed rather than just five percent growth, 10 and 15 percent growth?



THE WITNESS:  Yes.  I could provide various scenarios based on different assumptions.  I wouldn't have any of the background to say five or ten percent is appropriate, but I certainly could provide an estimate of --



COMMISSIONER GOLDWAY:  Well Capital One was not offering us an explanation of what their estimates were, so I think having a wider range of possible leaks on the record here would be useful for us.



THE WITNESS:  I can certainly provide that based on various assumptions, yes.



COMMISSIONER GOLDWAY:  Could you do that by Friday?



THE WITNESS:  Yes.



COMMISSIONER GOLDWAY:  Thank you.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Thank you.



Is there anyone else?



(No response)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Ms. McKenzie, would you like some time with your witness?



MS. McKENZIE:  Yes, please, Mr. Chairman.  Why don't we take 15 minutes so we can keep it short.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Why don't we keep it to ten?



MS. McKENZIE:  That's fine.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Off the record.



(Whereupon, a recess was taken)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  On the record.



Ms. McKenzie?



MS. McKENZIE:  No redirect.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Commissioner Covington?



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Chairman Omas, before we move to the next stage of the proceedings, prior to our recessing so to speak Ms. McKenzie, Witness Crum had alluded to a DAR, Division Analysis Report.  I was wondering if there is any way that DAR could be made available to us here at the Commission, and if so when.  We would be more interested in the overall report as opposed to how it would relate to what's going on with this request from Capital One.



MS. McKENZIE:  There already is some information from the DAR in the case.  In response to, I think it's Postal Service response to APWU I believe T4-13.  Let me verify that and see if that gets you what you need.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  I found T14, and this is not basically what I have in mind.  I think we need the actual report itself.



MS. McKENZIE:  I'll have to check to see.  I know normally we don't disclose the DAR.  We'll be in discussions I know with the vendor for Phase 2 and there may be some information.  We have to be careful about it, but I couldn't argue as to whether that's a problem or not.



The question I would have is do you want basically the cost savings from the DAR in lieu of the earlier request?



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Yes, in lieu of the earlier request.



MS. McKENZIE:  Let me see what information we have that we can make available.  These are, at least the labor -- We were asked for the savings, we gave the labor hour savings which are fine, and we'll see how much information we can give beyond that before we start running into some issues and some concerns.  Some of it we may have to put under protective conditions.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Thank you, Ms. McKenzie.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  That would be fine.



Do you think you can try to see about getting that to us on Friday?



MS. McKENZIE:  That I should be able to get to you by Friday.



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Or even earlier.



MS. McKENZIE:  My more experienced colleague says we'll get back to you on Friday as to what the status of that is.  Again, we do have to talk with various people as to how much of it we can release or not release.  But at least by Friday whether we need protective conditions or not, --



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  We should listen to you and not your more experienced colleague.



VICE CHAIRMAN COVINGTON:  Have your colleague be quiet.



(Laughter)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  Mr. Crum, that completes your testimony here today.  We appreciate your appearance.  Thank you very much.  You are now excused.



(Witness excused)



CHAIRMAN OMAS:  This concludes today's hearings.  We will reconvene tomorrow morning at 9:30 a.m. when we will receive testimony from the Postal Service Witnesses Bazzuto and Wilson.



Thank you and have a nice evening.



(Whereupon, at 3:27 p.m. the hearing was recessed, to reconvene at 9:30 a.m. on Wednesday, December 4, 2002.)
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